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The Group has two divisions, Food and Agribusiness. The Food business,

consisting of the Food Europe and Food North America subdivisions,

has operations in Ireland, the UK, France, the United States and Canada.

The Agribusiness division has operations in Ireland and the UK.
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Corporate profile

IAWS Group, plc is an international food and agribusiness company.

The Group has Lifestyle Food operations in Ireland, the UK, France,

the USA and Canada servicing over 60,000 customers. This Lifestyle

Food business focuses on niche high quality growth segments of the

bakery and convenience food markets. The Group has its roots in the

Irish agricultural industry and continues to maintain a leadership

position in Ireland and the UK in the areas of animal feed, fertiliser

and marine protein and oil. IAWS Group, plc is listed on the Dublin and

London Stock Exchanges and has been publicly quoted since 1988.

Dublin ticker symbol IAW.ID  London ticker symbol IAW LN  Website: www.iaws.com
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“The Group made excellent progress in 2006 with strong performances right across the

business. The hallmark of the Food division’s performance is revenue growth combined with

margin stability, against a backdrop of rising input costs. Food North America completed a

major capital investment programme in La Brea Bakery, New Jersey, that will provide a strong

platform for future growth. Food Europe benefited from an excellent first full year financial

contribution from French acquisition, Groupe Hubert, together with an excellent performance

from our businesses in Ireland and the UK, operating in competitive markets. The Agribusiness

division rebounded this year, with increased demand for animal feed ingredients and fertiliser.

Rising costs are a feature of all food businesses and make for a very challenging environment.

Nevertheless, we remain confident about our prospects for growth.”

Owen Killian, Chief Executive Officer.

Financial

HIGHLIGHTS

2

FF II NN AA NN CC II AA LL   HH II GG HH LL II GG HH TT SS 22 00 00 66 22 00 00 55 %%

€’’000000 €’’000000 CChhaannggee

Group revenue - continuing operations 1,557,305 1,408,174 11%

Group operating profit* 111,815 98,548 13%

Share of associates & JV † 25,653 21,520 19%

Operating profit inc. associates and JV* 137,468 120,068 14%

Pre tax profits* 123,539 107,768 15%

Diluted earnings per share (adjusted)* (cent) 81.60 71.89 14%

Dividend per share (cent) 13.49 11.89 13%

*Before intangible amortisation & exceptional items  † Net of interest and tax
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EE PP SS   GG RR OO WW TT HH oovveerr  55  yyeeaarrss 22 00 00 22 22 00 00 33 22 00 00 44 22 00 00 55 22 00 00 66

Diluted earnings per share (cent)* ** 45.75 54.12 63.41 71.89 81.60

Year on year growth 19% 18% 17% 13% 14%

Growth 2002-2006 78%

CC AA SS HH FF LL OO WW 22 00 00 22 22 00 00 33 22 00 00 44 22 00 00 55 22 00 00 66

€’’000000 €’’000000 €’’000000 €’’000000 €’’000000

Free cash † 56,442 73,532 80,633 83,510 100,651

Acquisition/development expenditure (176,792) (82,418) (79,927) (158,113) (111,006)

1,215 1,231 1,276 1,408 1,5571600
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*Before intangible amortisation and exceptional items † Excluding disposals

**2002 to 2004 are recalculated for IFRS at the same growth rates as UK GAAP. Results for 2005 are restated for IFRS.

Five Year Financial Performance

3
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Free cashflow † €m Dividend per ordinary share (cent )
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I am pleased to report on a year of excellent growth from

IAWS Group, plc. Group revenue grew by 10.6 per cent

while pre tax profits* increased by 14.6 per cent to

€123.5m. Adjusted fully diluted earnings per share*

have risen by 13.5 per cent year on year to 81.6 cent.

The Food division performed very well, increasing revenue

by 15.4 per cent to €975.4m and contributing 81 per cent

of IAWS Group, plc’s operating profit* (including associates

and joint venture). A good performance in Agribusiness saw

revenue increasing by 3.4 per cent to €581.9m and

operating profits* up 5.4 per cent at €24.0m. 

During the year, the Group completed the third phase of

expansion in La Brea Bakery’s New Jersey facility at a total

cost of €50m, bringing our total North American investment

to €194m. La Brea Bakery’s artisan bread sales have grown

significantly since its acquisition in 2001. Revenue in our

Food business in the USA reached €139.1m in 2006. 

Groupe Hubert made an excellent contribution in its first full

financial year within the Group. This business supplies over

20,000 customers in France, offering freshly pre-prepared,

ready to consume products to the world’s most

sophisticated food market.

2006 saw another strong contribution from the Group’s

associates and joint venture, amounting to €25.7m in the

year. This represents an increase of 19.2 per cent over 2005.

In December 2005, the Group announced that it had further

increased its shareholding in Hiestand Holding AG, by 10 per

cent, in an investment totalling €35.1m. The Group’s total

shareholding is now 32 per cent. 

Board changes

Mr. Jim Moloney, who had served IAWS Group, plc as both

Director and Chairman during the period since its formation,

retired in January 2006. His sudden death in April caused

a great sense of loss among his former fellow board

Chairman’s statement

4

“Groupe Hubert made an excellent contribution in its

first full financial year within the Group. This business

supplies over 20,000 customers in France, offering

freshly pre-prepared, ready to consume products to

the world’s most sophisticated food market.”
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members. Jim was a much valued colleague, and was

greatly respected throughout the wider business

community. He contributed greatly to the success of

IAWS Group, plc. On behalf of the board, I wish to express

sincere condolences to Jim’s wife Una, his daughter

Aoifean and their family.

Management and staff

The success of IAWS Group, plc is directly attributable to the

commitment and effort of the management and staff within

the Group. The Board would like to thank them for their

contribution to making IAWS the success it is today.

The Board would also like to acknowledge the continued

vision and commitment of Owen Killian, CEO, which has

resulted in another successful year for the Group.

IAWS continues to build knowledge and systems in

partnership with suppliers and customers. This is driving

annual investments in infrastructure that are in turn feeding

the Group’s potential for future growth. As a result, I feel the

Group is well placed to perform in the competitive

marketplaces in which it operates. 

Denis Lucey

Chairman

25 September 2006

DDeenniiss  LLuucceeyy

Chairman

5
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*EPS, pre-tax profit and operating profit are stated here before intangible

amortisation and exceptional items.
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Dear shareholders,

2006 has been a successful year for IAWS Group, plc. Since

1997, when the Group undertook a strategic repositioning

into the lifestyle food market, we have invested over

€795m in this business. The benefits of this investment can

now clearly be seen with the continued, strong performance

of the Food division. The Agribusiness division delivered an

improved performance this year in a challenging industry.

Results

Group revenue increased by 10.6 per cent to €1,557m

compared with €1,408m in 2005. The Food division

continued to grow satisfactorily, increasing revenue by 15.4

per cent year on year to €975.4m. Underlying sales in Food

Europe increased by 6.7 per cent, while Food North America

(excluding the joint venture) delivered underlying sales

growth of 26.1 per cent year on year. Agribusiness revenue

rose by 3.4 per cent to €581.9m, while the division’s

operating profit* increased by 5.4 per cent to €24.0m

compared with €22.8m in 2005, a solid performance overall.

Review of business operations

6

Group operating profit* was up 14.5 per cent to €137.5m

compared with €120.1m in 2005. The Food division

accounted for 81 per cent of the Group’s operating profit*

(including associates and joint venture) in the year, at

€111.8m. This compares with €95.2m in the previous year,

and represents an increase of 17.4 per cent. Food Europe

benefited from a first full year contribution from Groupe

Hubert which put in an excellent performance. 

Our associates and joint venture operations delivered

another strong result in 2006. Profits from these businesses

increased by 19.2 per cent to €25.7m from €21.5m in

“Through our baking academies, centres of excellence,

product seminars and daily interaction with customers,

our people demonstrate their creativity and their passion

for our products, our customers and our business.” 
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2005. The Group spent €35.1m in the year, increasing its

shareholding in Hiestand Holding AG from 22 per cent to

32 per cent, with a consequent increase in contribution.

Free cash flow for the year (excluding disposals) increased

by 20.5 per cent to €100.7m, confirming the continuing cash

generative nature of the Group, with net borrowings decreasing

to €216.5m from €219.9m in 2005.

Diluted earnings per share* have increased by 13.5 per cent

to 81.60 cent while pre tax profits* are up 14.6 per cent at

€123.5m compared with €107.8m in 2005.

Capital investment

The Group spent €68m through its capital investment

programme in the year.  The largest individual components of

this were the investment in increased manufacturing capacity

at La Brea Bakery’s New Jersey facility and investment in the

implementation of the Food division’s Enterprise Resource

Planning system in the UK Food business.

IAWS technology

IAWS has developed unique systems and know-how associated

with the specialised food business segment we serve. To

ensure we proactively develop this knowledge and brand

investment, we have established IAWS Technology & Global

Services Ltd (“TGS”). The future development of TGS ensures

knowledge management throughout the Group, which is a

fundamental part of the Group’s continued success.

7

OOwweenn  KKiilllliiaann

Chief Executive Officer

I A W S  G R O U P , P L C  A N N U A L  R E P O R T 00 66

*EPS, pre-tax profit and operating profit are stated here before intangible

amortisation and exceptional items.
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People

Our business is dependent on the commitment, enthusiasm

and talent of the people who work throughout IAWS. A key

strength of our business has been our capacity to work in

partnership with our customers, to develop products and

solutions that enhance the quality of our offering to

consumers. Through our baking academies, centres of 

excellence, product seminars and daily interaction with

customers, our people demonstrate their creativity and their

passion for our products, our customers and our business. 

We operate in a number of markets that are culturally

diverse, and our proven capacity to nurture and retain

talented people in all of these regions over time is evidence

of both the Group’s commitment to its people, and the

loyalty of our staff across our business. 

We  continue to invest strongly in the  development of all

employees to reflect our belief in the benefits of personal

development, and I would like to join the Chairman in

expressing my appreciation for the efforts and dedication

of my colleagues throughout the Group. 

Group focus and outlook

Our Lifestyle Food business continues to be the main driver

of growth for IAWS Group, plc. We have positioned ourselves

to benefit from growth in both the retail and foodservice

customer channels in our key markets. Across our business,

we are seeking to differentiate our offerings through

innovation, developing products and service that will ensure

the delivery of ever higher levels of convenience and quality

to our customers. This degree of differentiation is becoming

more important in an increasingly competitive landscape.     

We are enhancing geographic and customer diversity within

our Food division, which provides the opportunity to develop

new product and service ideas and exploit new

opportunities. It also creates a natural defence against

unforeseen negative commercial, competitive or

macroeconomic developments. We are continuing to

monitor new and organic investment opportunities to

further enhance these attributes.  

Review of business operations (continued)

8

“Through IAWS Technology and Global Services Ltd we

are driving innovation and efficiency by pooling Group

knowledge, technology and management talent. This is

allowing us to maximise the benefit of our proven

technologies, logistical networks and customer

partnership models across our markets...”
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We have strong divisional and regional management teams

in all of our businesses with excellent local market

expertise. Through IAWS Technology and Global Services Ltd,

we are driving innovation and efficiency by pooling Group

knowledge, technology and management talent. This is

allowing us to maximise the benefit of our proven

technologies, logistical networks and customer partnership

models across our markets, to deliver efficiencies and

open up new opportunities for growth.

As a Group with a significant production and logistics

network we, like most food businesses, are faced with the

challenge of managing rising commodity, fuel and utility

costs. This will continue to be a significant feature of our

business environment into 2007. 

In our Agribusiness division, we have strategic assets

and market positions which will evolve as market changes

emerge and as opportunities present themselves. We

recognise these developments and are investing in

divisional management autonomy and focus. We have

a separate team managing the Food and Agri  businesses,

with the clear objective of unlocking and maximising

shareholder value.

As a result of all of these developments, I believe that

IAWS Group, plc is now well positioned to deliver into

2007 and beyond. 
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Agribusiness was the Group’s original core activity. Today,

this division comprises two principal activities, namely agri

inputs and marine proteins and oils. Both businesses have

operations in Ireland and the UK. The division delivered a

satisfactory trading performance for the year, with

underlying sales growth of 3.0 per cent to €581.9m and

a 5.4 per cent increase in operating profit* to €24.0m.

Agri inputs

The Group operates in both the feed ingredients and

fertiliser markets which represent the major component of

purchased farm inputs.

R & H Hall is Ireland’s leading importer and supplier of raw

material ingredients to the Irish animal feed manufacturing

and flour milling industry, through the operation of an

extensive trading, shipping and logistics capability. 

Agribusiness

REVIEW

10

“R & H Hall’s spread of portside facilities

across Dublin, Cork, Ringaskiddy, Foynes

and Belfast provide a unique logistical

positioning for this business.”

Because Ireland is a deficit country in the production of

native cereals and proteins for animal feed, production

must be supplemented through the importation of feed

ingredients. R & H Hall’s spread of portside facilities across

Dublin, Cork, Ringaskiddy, Foynes and Belfast provide a

unique logistical positioning for this business. 

R & H Hall’s trading and shipping capability gives it access

to international markets and multiple sources of supply.

Ingredients are imported from over fifteen countries

world-wide. The strength of the key relationships with the

world’s leading producers and suppliers of bulk ingredients

ensure that the market is supplied with an extensive range

of competitively priced raw materials.

R & H Hall delivered a satisfactory trading performance

for the year. 

Goulding is Ireland’s leading fertiliser brand, while IAWS

Fertiliser UK also holds a strong position in the UK fertiliser

market.

The activities of the Group’s fertiliser division encompass

the manufacture and distribution of agricultural fertiliser

and horticulture products in Ireland and the UK. The

combined volumes across these territories gives

competitive purchasing power on raw materials,

packaging and distribution. 
* Operating profit is stated here before intangible amortisation and

exceptional items. 
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Humber Palmers has been the ‘first choice’ fertiliser for

many of the well known studs throughout the UK and

Ireland for over 40 years.  This experience and

continuing research has enabled us to

develop Top Paddock, a unique

nutritionally ‘complete’ organic based

fertiliser, specifically formulated for

application on all horse and pony

paddocks in a safe, naturally

efficient and balanced manner.
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Agri inputs (continued)

In contrast to primary fertiliser production, the Group’s

fertiliser manufacturing activity involves the blending of

specific nutrient combinations (e.g. potash, nitrogen and

potassium), tailored to particular farm production systems

and regional soil deficiencies. 

Grass production is the main driver of fertiliser usage in

Ireland, with arable production consuming the majority of

fertiliser output in the UK. 

The Group’s Irish and UK fertiliser business performed well

in a difficult trading environment. The agriculture industry

in the UK has experienced enormous change resulting in

higher productivity arising from greater efficiency in the

use of inputs. 

The emerging biofuel industry in the UK represents a

significant new outlet for UK cereal production. The potential

of improved returns for arable farmers may help to

12

“IAWS, through its manufacturing facilities

in Killybegs, Aberdeen, Grimsby and the

Shetland Islands, is the largest producer of

fishmeal and fish oil in Britain and Ireland

and the fourth largest in Europe.”

underwrite the future UK cereal crop area, thereby

underpinning fertiliser consumption. 

Marine proteins & oils

Marine proteins & oils delivered a satisfactory performance

across all locations in the year.

IAWS, through its manufacturing facilities in Killybegs,

Aberdeen, Grimsby and the Shetland Islands, is the largest

producer of fishmeal and fish oil in Britain and Ireland and

the fourth largest in Europe. Both fishmeal and fish oil are

the key raw material ingredients of fish feed.

Fishmeal is a valuable, internationally traded protein used

mostly in diets for farmed fish and for young animals,

whose demand for protein is particularly high. Developing

markets in both pharmaceuticals and health foods are also

helping underpin the usage of fish oil.

The location of manufacturing facilities is becoming

increasingly important, with rising fuel costs impacting

substantially on the economics of operating fish trawlers.

Killybegs is an optimal location for fish trawlers, and the

Group is planning a substantial investment to facilitate

projected increased landings at this port. A full planning

application has been lodged with Donegal County Council.

Agribusiness REVIEW
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Food Europe, which comprises the Lifestyle Food

businesses in Ireland, the UK and France, as well as

Shamrock Foods, increased revenue by 13.1 per cent to

€836.3m reflecting underlying sales growth of 6.7 per cent.

Operating profit* in Food Europe increased by 12.9 per cent

to €71.2m in 2006.

Ireland

Shamrock Foods is home to two of Ireland’s leading food

brands - Shamrock and Roma. The business encompasses

marketing, brand management and state of the art ambient

logistics capabilities, based from a 225,000 square foot,

temperature-controlled facility in South West Dublin. Key

to Shamrock Foods’ success is the Group’s Enterprise

Resource Planning (ERP) system which enables efficient,

integrated customer relationship management,

warehouse management, distribution and market

intelligence gathering. 

The company performed satisfactorily, notwithstanding the

loss of the Weetabix agency contract in the second half of

the financial year. This loss was partially offset by continued

growth in both the Roma and Shamrock brands and ongoing

strength from its other agency business. 

Roma continues to experience excellent growth in market

share for key product categories such as pasta,

tomatoes, puree and olive oil. Roma had a number

of significant new product launches in the year

including new bolognese sauces, a new Hot & Spicy

Bruschetta, Stir Fry Oils, a new pasta shape in the Kidz Pasta

range as well as a new look for Roma Boil in the Bag and

Premium Pasta Sauces. 

Shamrock is Ireland’s leading home baking brand, and

while it is evolving into a more diverse range of product

categories, the brand retains a strong consumer base within

home baking. It remains the number one brand in this

category and continues to experience year on year growth. 

A number of new products were launched in the year in

response to increasing consumer demand for healthier

snacking and baking options, reflecting growth in the

Shamrock dried fruit, nuts and snacking range. The

business has also expanded distribution of its snacking

range into the foodservice arena, securing sales with

several large contract catering groups during the year.

14

Food review

EUROPE 

* Operating profit is stated here before intangible amortisation

and exceptional items. 
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Every year, Shamrock sponsors a national baking

competition in secondary schools in association with

the RTE Guide. This is designed to bring new users to

the category and encourage younger people to have

fun in the kitchen, while realising the satisfaction of

creating food from scratch. Students nationwide are

encouraged to enter a baking recipe for their favourite

Irish celebrity.  Five finalists were chosen this year to

attend the final “Bake Off” in Dublin in March 2006.

I A W S  G R O U P , P L C  A N N U A L  R E P O R T 00 66
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Ireland (continued)

Our Lifestyle Food business in Ireland provides a complete

food offering for convenience stores. This incorporates the

Cuisine de France branded full in-store bakery solution,

Pierre’s branded hot food products and the Carroll Cuisine

full deli counter offering of cold meats and salads, as well

as ready prepared meals. 

The Irish Lifestyle Food business performed well in 2006,

recording good sales growth in a very competitive

marketplace. Successful development of new products in

partnership with our key customers continues to drive our

sales, while the strong Irish economic performance has

helped generate increased demand from more consumers

for convenience foods. 

Our Cuisine de France business had another successful

year, recording growth and maintaining our market

leadership position. New product offerings that were

particularly successful included, the “Taste of Italy” range,

‘Traditional Irish Breads’ and ‘Speciality Gourmet Breads’. 

The consumer trend towards higher value premium products

was supported with a new range from our association

with Hiestand. 

Market trials of La Brea Bakery artisan breads in Ireland were

completed in the year. The market trials were successful and

we have begun rolling out the brand to a select number of

retail and foodservice accounts. 

Our chilled Food To Go manufacturing facility and Centre of

Excellence in Tullamore was officially opened during the year.

We are very pleased with the performance of this business,

in particular the continued growth in our Carroll’s Premium

Cooked Ham range and the extension of our Carroll Cuisine

Food To Go offering.

Due to our continued growth in Ireland, the Lifestyle Food

business will soon be capacity constrained at its current site

in Tallaght, Dublin. The Company has been granted planning

permission for a new, world-class facility on a greenfield site

in Grangecastle, Co. Dublin. This new facility will encompass

research and development, manufacturing, distribution, an

innovation centre and a training academy amongst many

other functions. The investment will underpin the future

growth of our business, not only in Ireland but internationally.

The total spend on the Grangecastle project is expected to be

€180m. To offset the cost of the development, the Group has

entered into an option to dispose of its current operating site

in Tallaght in 2009, following the relocation of operations to

Grangecastle, for a minimum consideration of €48m.

16

“The Company has been granted planning permission

for a new, world-class facility on a greenfield site in

Grangecastle, Co. Dublin...The investment will

underpin the future growth of our business, not only

in Ireland but internationally.”

Food review EUROPE
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Cuisine de France and transition year school students

in Dublin successfully launched ‘Muffin Week’ and helped

raise over €30,000 for Temple Street Children’s Hospital.

The students from 28 Dublin based secondary schools set

up their own mini-companies selling hundreds of cases

of Cuisine de France wrapped muffins at every roadside,

DART and LUAS station in Dublin. The funds were donated

to Temple Street to help buy a new heart monitor

for premature babies in the Intensive Care Unit.

Cuisine de France would like to thank all those involved

especially the Department of Transport for helping to make

this fundraising initiative so successful. 

17

I A W S  G R O U P , P L C  A N N U A L  R E P O R T 00 66

Annual report 2006 for PDF  21/11/06  12:17  Page 17



United Kingdom 

The Lifestyle Food business in the UK is the leading

provider of innovative, continental, ready-to-bake

specialities, sourced from select suppliers across Europe.

The UK business, which serves customers in both the

foodservice and retail channels through the

Delice de France and Cuisine de France brands,

achieved a very satisfactory performance in 2006.

This year saw significant investment in Lifestyle Food UK

as we completed the integration of the food businesses

and the rollout of the Group’s Enterprise Resource Planning

(ERP) system.

The implementation of the ERP system was successfully

completed across the UK Food operation in July 2006.  In

addition, a new Management Information System was

introduced, complementing the ERP project, designed to

provide real time management information. The UK business

is now using technology and processes developed in our

Irish business which have a proven track record. 

Our baking academies have been upgraded throughout

the year, and now provide unparalleled facilities for our

customers to experience our market leading products, and

for their staff to understand how to deliver this quality to

the end consumer. 

Foodservice continues to show good growth, benefiting

from improved consumer confidence and opportunities

outside the London area. Delice de France is now offering

its customers around 500 different products: speciality

continental bread, patisserie, viennoiserie, savoury and

dessert products. This represents a much stronger range

of products and solutions for customers who are

increasingly attracted by the combination of high quality

product and significantly reduced preparation times.

Sales growth potential to the UK convenience retail market

is dependent on further investment by shop owners in

upgrading their existing convenience stores. Competition

is strong in the UK retail market, and the challenge for

convenience retailers is to reposition themselves to appeal

to an ever more discerning consumer. We expect this

repositioning to lead to consolidation in the UK retail

convenience market with fewer, larger and higher quality

stores replacing the proliferation of smaller outlets. As

convenience retailers decide to take this step forward, IAWS

Food UK offers them solutions to support their repositioning. 

18

Food review EUROPE
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The Delice de France Baking Academies have been developed

to provide a support network for all customers. The

academies are equipped with “best in class” foodservice

equipment to make training easy and contemporary. The

Academies provide job specific training days to improve food

safety knowledge, drive sales and help deliver quality

products every time. The Academies are also used for

product development and food workshops, and to fully train

the Delice de France sales support teams. This gives them

expert knowledge and enables them to assist customers

with product and equipment queries at their premises.
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France

In France, Groupe Hubert delivered an excellent

performance in its first full financial year as part

of IAWS Group, plc.

Groupe Hubert, which was acquired by IAWS in December

2004, is a leading supplier of customised, innovative

viennoiserie, traiteur, reception and patisserie solutions

to the craft and foodservice sectors in France. 

The strength of this business is derived from excellence

in quality product innovation. Management and staff in

Groupe Hubert take great pride in their ability to create a

stream of outstanding new products each year. The

company’s passion for and excellence in research and

development and product innovation are providing

invaluable additional momentum to IAWS in these

areas. Groupe Hubert also has strong working

relationships throughout France with specialist

convenience food manufacturers. 

The business’ founding objective was to deliver frozen

par-baked products to the craft sector that could match

the quality of their in-store, baked from scratch equivalent.

The success of the business is testament to the

company’s ability to deliver convenient products requiring

dramatically reduced preparation time, whilst maintaining

the highest levels of quality. This allows chefs and artisan

bakers to ensure they always have the finest product

available. Research and development became the

cornerstone of the company’s success as the French

market is highly demanding in terms of consumer tastes

and food expectations. 

Food review EUROPE
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“Groupe Hubert’s passion for and excellence in

research and development and product

innovation are providing invaluable additional

momentum to IAWS in these areas.”
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Coup de Pates is the market leader in driving innovation in

bakery and food to go solutions in France. Key to their

success is their focus on new product development. Twice a

year Coup de Pates launches a new product catalogue, which

features a number of new products. In the last year over 120

new products have been developed and incorporated into

these new catalogues. The research and development team

primarily focus on quality, innovation, recipe improvements,

ease of use of product, product differentiation and overall

eating pleasure. In developing new products Coup de Pates

focuses on customers’ key needs and wishes, making

themselves a “business partner” of their customers.
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France (continued)

Today, Groupe Hubert has a quality customer base

consisting of over 20,000 independent food retailers,

representing France’s leading convenience food

destination. We believe these independent retailers are

among the most discerning food merchants in the world,

with exceptional standards of product presentation. The

business has an extensive sales, telesales and logistical

network allowing it to service its customers across

France on a daily basis. 

Groupe Hubert experienced strong sales growth during

the year as demand from the craft and foodservice

markets for convenience product continues to increase.

Growth in this market is being driven primarily by new

product development. 

Associate – Hiestand 

Hiestand Holding AG, listed on the Zurich Stock Exchange,

is a leading international manufacturer of Swiss gourmet

bakery products. 

Food review EUROPE
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“Groupe Hubert experienced strong sales

growth during the year as demand from the

craft and foodservice markets for convenience

product continues to increase.”

For the full year 2005, Hiestand had total sales of

CHF 449.6m, an increase of 13.1 per cent on the previous

year. Hiestand achieved a further 9.9 per cent sales

growth in the first six months of 2006, with total sales

of CHF 236.0m during that period.

In December 2005, IAWS Group, plc announced it had

increased its shareholding in Hiestand to 32 per cent

from 22 percent, at a cost of €35.1m.

Hiestand’s main markets are in Europe (Switzerland,

Germany, Poland and Austria) and Asia (Malaysia and

Japan), both of which are experiencing sales growth. 

IAWS and Hiestand are continuing to unlock benefits

from working more closely together. 
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In North America the Group continues to make excellent

progress. Revenue (excluding the joint venture) grew by

31.4 per cent to €139.1m reflecting underlying sales

growth of 26.1 per cent. Operating profit * increased by

30.6 per cent to €16.6m. This business supplies into

the retail and foodservice channels, both of which

are experiencing good growth. 

La Brea Bakery is now the established premium artisan bread

brand in the US based on research conducted by AC Nielsen.

It is the only branded artisan bread offering with nation-wide

distribution in the United States, bringing distinctive breads

and exciting sandwich ideas to the market. 

La Brea Bakery manufactures its artisan breads in our

own unique bakery facilities in New Jersey and Los Angeles,

replicating traditional artisan craft baking techniques with

meticulous attention to detail on a large scale.  La Brea Bakery

places huge importance on ensuring it always has the best

recipes, ingredients and resources, enabling it to set the

highest standards for its category. The business also

continues to benefit from the inspiration of Nancy Silverton, 

founder of the original La Brea Bakery retail store in

Los Angeles, and, in common with all of our Food businesses,

La Brea Bakery’s success is underpinned by category leading

innovation and new product development.

During the year, the Group completed a €50m investment

programme, the third phase of expansion at the La Brea

Bakery facility in New Jersey, increasing capacity to satisfy

what we believe will be the La Brea Bakery growth demands

over the next two years. This investment brings the total

expenditure on the New Jersey site to €100m. Enhanced

production facilities on the East and West Coasts ensure that

the business has a distinct competitive advantage

in a climate of rising fuel and transport costs. 

Given the scale of La Brea Bakery’s production capability,

business performance and margins are influenced by

volumes and efficiency in the manufacturing process.

During the year the impact of rising fuel and energy

costs was absorbed by increased volumes and effective

production management. 

Over the past year the business has focussed heavily on

continuing to build a nation-wide sales force. The La Brea

Bakery business now has an established sales force

throughout the USA to drive further growth. This is a key part

of our partnership model, assisting customers in ensuring that

products are baked off and presented in the correct manner.

The sales team is crucial to communicating the benefits and

opportunities generated by our products directly to stores. 

Food review

NORTH AMERICA

24

“During the year, the Group completed a €50m

investment programme, the third phase of expansion at

the La Brea Bakery facility in New Jersey, increasing

capacity to satisfy what we believe will be the La Brea

Bakery growth demands over the next two years.”

* Operating profit is stated here before intangible amortisation

and exceptional items. 
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La Brea Bakery continued to launch new products

during the year, including the new La Baccia roll. It’s not

Focaccia or Ciabatta. It’s La Baccia. Something brand

new to artisan bread lovers everywhere!  La Baccia has

a delicate rustic crust with a rich taste and soft, smooth

texture. The artisan roll is versatile from every angle.

Whether served open, closed, toasted, or cold, the

interior remains airy and light. La Baccia’s

rich, slightly sweet flavour complements

a variety of sauces, dressing,

and other fillings.
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La Brea Bakery brand awareness was boosted during the

year through a number of initiatives.  These included the

opening of two new La Brea Bakery branded café kiosks.

With a new location in downtown Chicago’s historic Marshall

Fields Watertower building and in Marshall Fields of

Southdale, MN, customers can enjoy La Brea Bakery’s

signature sandwiches and salads. In addition, the La Brea

Bakery Café in Downtown Disney was able to join in

Disneyland’s 50th Anniversary celebrations which brought

in large numbers of visitors from all over the world. 

Joint Venture – Tim Hortons

Tim Hortons is the largest quick service restaurant chain in

Canada specialising in always fresh coffee, baked goods and

homestyle lunches. In 2001, IAWS and Tim Hortons launched

the Maidstone Bakery joint venture in Brantford, Ontario. This

consists of a world-class, 300,000 square foot par baking

facility. The Maidstone Bakery supplies the entire estate of

Tim Hortons restaurants with donuts, timbits  and a number

of bread products, enabling them to produce freshly baked

goods in just a few minutes at all Tim Hortons restaurants

under the “Always Fresh” bakery concept. The joint venture

also supplies par baked products to our Cuisine de France

business in Chicago.

IAWS and Tim Hortons continue to work closely

together, developing new products and opening up

new market opportunities.

The performance of the joint venture was satisfactory in 2006.

The Group’s share of profit from the Maidstone Bakery was

boosted due to favourable currency movements in the year.

On 24 March 2006, Tim Hortons completed its IPO

of 17.25 per cent of the Company, with trading commencing

on the Toronto and New York Stock Exchanges. Wendy’s

International, Inc. maintains an 82.75 per cent ownership

in the Company and has announced that it is targeting

29 September 2006 to spin off its remaining

Tim Hortons shareholding.

Owen Killian

Chief Executive Officer

25 September 2006

Food review NORTH AMERICA
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IAWS Group plc and Tim Hortons, formed a 50/50 joint

venture in 2001, to build and operate a bakery plant, in

Brantford, Ontario. The Maidstone Bakery produces par-

baked donuts and baguettes for the Tim Hortons estate

of restaurants.  Cuisine de France Inc., based in

Chicago, also sources its baguette requirement from the

facility. The Maidstone Bakery supplies all 2,890 stores

in the Tim Hortons estate of restaurants.
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Accounting policies- IFRS transition

The 2006 Group financial statements have been prepared in

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

(IFRS) as adopted by the EU. In December 2005, the Group

published a report which set out the Group’s IFRS

accounting policies and included the restatement of the

Group’s prior year financial information in accordance with

these revised policies. 

Analysis of results

Comprehensive commentary on Group revenue, operating

and pre tax profit for 2006 is included in the Review of

business operations on pages 6 to 27. 

Key performance indicators

The Group considers the following measures to be important

indicators of the underlying performance of the business:

Adjusted fully diluted earnings per share (EPS)* 

EPS* has grown by 13.5 per cent in the year to 81.60 cent

from 71.89 cent. The year on year increase is attributable

to the growth in Group operating profit* in 2006. 

Divisional underlying revenue growth 

Underlying revenue growth reflects growth after cancelling

the effects of currency translation and the impact of

acquisitions or disposals. Total underlying revenue for the

Group grew by 6.7 per cent in the year. Underlying revenue

for Food Europe grew by 6.7 per cent while for Food North

America underlying revenue (excluding the joint venture)

28

was up by 26.1 per cent. For the Agribusiness division the

underlying growth rate was 3.0 per cent in the year.  

Operating margin* 

Operating margin* for the Group was 7.2 per cent compared

with 7.0 per cent in 2005. The operating margin* within Food

remained constant year on year at 9.0 per cent while the

Agribusiness margin* improved by 10 basis points to 4.1

per cent in 2006. 

Return on investment 

Return on investment for the Group was 15.1 per cent in

2006 compared with 14.7 per cent in the previous year. The

return on investment in the Food business increased from

14.0 per cent to 14.8 per cent, reflecting volume growth in

our US Food business. The Agribusiness return fell by 1.3

per cent to 16.8 per cent, reflecting increased investment

in working capital and the funding of the Group’s pension

deficit in the period.

Free cash flow

Free cash flow (excluding disposals) was up 20.5 per cent

in the year to €100.7m.

*EPS, operating profit and operating margin are stated before

intangible amortisation and exceptional items.

Financial

REVIEW
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Exceptional items

Total profit for the financial year includes an exceptional

gain of €1.3m (before tax) arising, primarily, from the

disposal of an excess property in Waterford. Total profit for

the financial year in 2005 included an exceptional profit

before tax of €8.6m primarily due to the disposal of an

Agribusiness operation.

Dividends

The Board is recommending a final dividend of 6.78 cent

per share compared with 6.052 cent per share in 2005,

an increase of 12.0 per cent. Together with the interim

dividend of 6.71 cent per share, this raises the total

dividend payment for the year to 13.49 cent per share,

an increase of 13.5 per cent over 2005.

Share price 

The Group’s ordinary shares traded in the range of €11.20

to €15.10 during the year. The Group’s share price at the

year ended 31 July 2006 was €14.50 (2005: €12.02). This

represents strong capital appreciation for our shareholders

in addition to the dividend that was paid out.

Treasury management

The Group operates a centralised Treasury function, which

manages the debt and currency risks of the Group. The

function’s activities include managing interest rate risk,

foreign currency risk and also ensuring the Group has

sufficient committed credit facilities available. The Group

does not engage in speculative trading. It is the Group’s

objective to minimise exposure to both foreign currency and

interest rate fluctuations arising from its trading activities.

Funding and liquidity management

Group net borrowing decreased to €216.5m from €219.9m

in 2005. This was after expending €111.0m on acquisitions

and capital projects. The Group finances its activities

through a combination of retained earnings and borrowings.

The Group utilises a €500m syndicated multi-currency

bank loan facility for ongoing activities, capital expenditure

and investment. This facility was established

in 2005 and allows for additional borrowing capacity.

Interest cover at 9.9 times is in line with last year.

Interest rate management

In this period of global interest rate uncertainty, the Group’s

objective continues to be to minimise the impact of interest

rate volatility on its interest costs, and thereby protect

profitability. The Group’s policy is to maintain between 40

per cent and 70 per cent of overall Group average annual

borrowings at fixed rates of interest, through the use of

interest rate swaps. Further information on interest

bearing loans and borrowings is contained in note

21 to the financial statements.

Foreign currency management 

The Group’s main operations are in the Euro zone, North

America and the UK, while it also has an investment in

Switzerland. As a result, it is exposed to currency

fluctuations, particularly Sterling, Canadian dollar, US dollar 
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Foreign currency management (continued)

and the Swiss franc. The Group manages the effect of

balance sheet translation exposure by matching foreign

currency investments with foreign currency borrowings.

The Group also has transactional currency exposures that

arise from non-base currency activities and foreign

currency contracts are employed to reduce these

currency exposures.

Pensions

During the year the Board approved the funding of the

Group pension scheme deficit as identified in the Group’s

2005 Annual Report. Accordingly, the Group made a special

contribution of €23.5 million during the year to fund the

scheme in line with Guidance Note 11 adopted by the

Institute of Actuaries. Under IAS 19, Employee Benefits

the total deficit in the Group’s defined benefit schemes,

including the main scheme, at 31 July 2006 was €6.6m

(2005: €34.5m). The Group has the financial capacity

and is committed to funding the remaining deficit.

Taxation

The effective tax rate on ordinary activities for the year

ended 31 July 2006 is broadly in line with the prior year. 

The effective tax rate on ordinary activities reflects the mix

of profits in the international jurisdictions in which the

Group operates. 

Insurance

The Group is highly focussed on risk and its management.

Accordingly, insurance is held for all significant insurable

risks and against major catastrophes. 

Patrick McEniff

Chief Financial Officer

25 September 2006

Financial review (continued)

30

Annual report 2006 for PDF  21/11/06  12:17  Page 30



31

I A W S  G R O U P , P L C  A N N U A L  R E P O R T 00 66

Directors

The Board of IAWS Group, plc consists of three executive
directors and ten non-executive directors.

(a) Chairman

Denis Lucey (69) was appointed Chairman of the Group
on 31 August 2005. Prior to that appointment he was Senior
Independent Director. He is a former Chief Executive of
Dairygold Co-operative Society Limited and is a director
of a number of unlisted companies.

(b) Executive directors

Owen Killian (53) was appointed Chief Executive Officer on
1 October 2003. He has held senior executive positions with
the Group since its flotation. In 1997 he was appointed Chief
Operations Officer where he played a key role in the
development of strategy, in particular in relation to growth
opportunities in the food sector provided by lifestyle
change. He became Head of Food in 2001 concentrating on
the generation of efficiencies derived from the integration
of all food logistical and marketing operations.

Patrick McEniff FCMA MBA (38) is Chief Financial Officer.
He was appointed to the Board on 27 October 2004. He
has been with the Group since 1989. He qualified as an
accountant in 1991 while working with the Group and has
filled several senior positions, most recently as Finance
Director of the IAWS Lifestyle Foods business.

Hugo Kane (47) is Chief Executive of IAWS Food Group. He
was appointed to the Board on 1 September 2004. He has
over 20 years experience in the food industry, joining
Cuisine de France in 1993 as Operations Director. He was
appointed Managing Director of Cuisine de France in 2001.

(c) Non-executive directors

Denis Buckley (60) is Chairman of Kerry Group plc, Kerry
Co-operative Creameries Limited, One51 Limited and Irish
Agricultural Wholesale Society Limited. 

Beatrice Dardis M.A. (61) is a social scientist. She has
researched rural industrialisation and the role of women
in farming. 

J. Brian Davy (64) is Chairman of Davy Stockbrokers. He is
a former director of the Irish Stock Exchange and of Arnotts
plc. He is Deputy Chairman of the Executive Committee of
the National Maternity Hospital Holles Street and is a
director of several unquoted companies. 

Noreen Hynes B.Comm. FCA (53) joined the Board on 15
March 2004. She is Managing Director of Aquarius
Properties Abroad and previously held senior management
positions with Irish Distillers, Coal Distributors and ICL.
She is a former member of the Council of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in Ireland. 

Philip Lynch (60) is a former Chairman and executive
director of the Group. He is Chief Executive of One51 Limited
and Irish Agricultural Wholesale Society Limited and is a
director of C&C Group plc, Coillte Teo and FBD Holdings plc.

David Martin FCMA (62) is a former executive director of the
Group. He is a director of The Irish Auditing And Accounting
Supervisory Authority, the Dormant Accounts Board and a
number of unlisted companies.

William G. Murphy B.Comm. (61) is a director of Glanbia plc
and a former Deputy Managing Director of Glanbia and a
former director of Irish Agricultural Wholesale Society
Limited. He is a director of a number of unlisted companies.

Patrick Wall MB MVB MSc MBA (51) joined the Board on
21 July 2004. He is Associate Professor of Public Health
in University College Dublin (UCD). He is Chairman of the
Management Board of the European Food Safety Authority
and a member of the Food Safety Advisory Board of Numico
and a non-executive director of Luxcel Biosciences.
Previous positions held by Professor Wall include Adjunct
Professor of Food Safety in UCD, Chief Executive of The
Food Safety Authority of Ireland and Consultant in the
U.K. National Health Service.

Paul N. Wilkinson M.A. (Oxon) (61) is Senior Independent
Director. He previously held senior management positions
with Unilever plc, Grand Metropolitan plc and RHM plc. He is
a director of Thorntons plc and a number of unlisted
companies.
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Directors’ report

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report together
with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 July
2006. These are the Group’s first consolidated financial
statements prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS). The key areas of impact on the
financial statements arising from the transition to IFRS are set
out in detail in note 33 to the Group financial statements.

Principal activity and business review

The Group's principal activities comprise the manufacture and
distribution of convenience food as well as the manufacture
and distribution of agri and nutrition products. Through its
subsidiaries, associates and joint venture, the Group has
manufacturing, trading and distribution operations based
in the Republic of Ireland, the United Kingdom, Continental
Europe, the United States of America and Canada.

During the year under review, the Group continued to expand
and develop its core activities. A detailed review of the
performance of the Group is included in the Chairman’s
statement and the Review of business operations.

The directors consider the state of affairs of the Company and
the Group to be satisfactory.

A list of the Company's significant subsidiaries, associates and
joint venture is set out on pages 113 to 114. 

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Board and senior management have invested significant
time and resources in identifying specific risks across the
Group, and in developing a culture of balanced risk
minimisation. To facilitate this, the Group has formal risk
assessment processes in place through which risks and
mitigating controls are thoroughly evaluated. These processes
are driven by business unit management, who are best placed
to identify the significant ongoing and emerging risks facing
their businesses. The outputs of these risk assessment
processes are subject to various levels of review, up to and
including Board level. Risks identified and associated mitigating
controls are also subject to audit as part of health and safety
and operational/financial audit programmes. 

The risks identified fall broadly into four categories:
strategic/commercial, operational, systems and financial. Some
of the most significant strategic/commercial risks facing the
Group include the impact of unforeseen changes in food

consumption patterns or changes in Government legislation
regarding the composition of food products, and the potential
impact of competitor activity. The Group addresses these by
focussing on research and development and product innovation
to ensure that customer and consumer requirements are being
anticipated and met on a continuing basis. The Group also
closely monitors emerging changes to regulations or legislation
on an ongoing basis. The attainment of the highest level of
product quality and customer service are also core to reducing
the impact of these risks. 

As a group that has grown both organically and through
acquisitions, IAWS Group, plc faces risks and challenges
associated with managing growth, and ensuring that processes
around acquiring and integrating new businesses are robust.
The management of major capital projects is also a key area
of risk for the business. There is substantial experience within
the Group of managing growth, and in successfully integrating
acquired businesses. There is also strong project management
capability with a track record of success in this area. Financial,
commercial and operational due diligence is performed both by
external consultants and in-house experts in advance of all
new acquisitions. The integration of new acquisitions and the
delivery of major project initiatives is carefully managed
and controlled.      

Operational risks facing the Group include issues associated
with product contamination and general food scares affecting
relevant products. A further operational risk to the Group, in
common with most companies, is the risk of failure to address
increasing compliance requirements particularly in the areas of
health and safety, emissions and effluent control. These types
of risks are mitigated through the establishment of thorough
hygiene and health and safety systems, environmental
/discharge controls, auditing of supplier facilities and
ensuring product traceability.

The loss of a significant manufacturing/operational site through
natural catastrophe or act of vandalism represents another risk
that could, potentially, have a material impact on the Group. As
a result, emphasis is given to ensuring that site security
measures at all Group locations are robust. In addition, the
Board is satisfied that significant management attention is
given to the development of comprehensive operational
disaster recovery plans.  

Similarly, a significant IT system failure could adversely impact
on operations. As a result, IT disaster recovery plans and
system backup processes are implemented.
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Directors’ report (continued)

The Group has a track record of attracting and retaining high

quality senior management and staff internationally. The Group

is cognisant of cultural differences across the markets in which 

the business operates, and has put in place management

teams with the skills and local knowledge to trade successfully

in the Group’s markets. As a result, the Group faces risks

associated with the potential loss of key management

personnel. The Board addresses these risks through

incentivisation and retention initiatives, in addition to robust

succession planning. 

As a multinational Group with substantial operations and

interests outside the euro-zone, IAWS Group, plc is subject to the

risk of adverse movements in foreign currency exchange rates.

Exposures are managed through matching foreign currency

investments with foreign currency borrowings and through the

use of foreign currency contracts. Financial risk management

objectives and policies are identified in the Financial review, and

in note 22 to the Group financial statements on pages 81 to 84.

Results for the year

The results for the year are set out in the Group income

statement on page 47. Profit for the financial year before

dividends was €99,129,000 (2005: €94,636,000).

Dividends

An interim dividend of 6.71 cent per share amounting to

€8,441,000 was paid on ordinary shares. The directors

recommend a final ordinary dividend of 6.78 cent per share

subject to the shareholders' approval. The total dividend for

the year amounts to 13.49 cent per ordinary share, an

increase of 13.5% from last year. 

Future developments

The Group will continue to pursue new developments and

unlock shareholder value, through both organic growth and

acquisitions.

Research and development

The Group, through its extensive laboratory and testing

facilities, pursues ongoing research and development

programmes directed towards the development of new 

value added products.

Accounting records

The directors believe that they have complied with the
requirement of Section 202 of the Companies Act, 1990 with
regard to books of account by employing personnel with
appropriate expertise and by providing adequate resources to
the finance function. The books of account of the Company are
maintained at the Company’s registered office at 151 Thomas
Street, Dublin 8.

Corporate governance

Statements by the directors in relation to the Group’s application
of corporate governance principles and compliance with the
provisions of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance are
set out on pages 35 to 38.

Corporate social responsibility

The Group views corporate social responsibility as an integral
part of the organisation’s culture. In all matters the Group
strives to ensure it is acting in the best interests of all related
parties and stakeholders.

Directors’ and Secretary’s interests

Details of the directors’ and Company Secretary’s interests in
share capital and share options are set out in the Report on
directors' remuneration on pages 39 to 43. 

Substantial holdings

As at 25 September 2006 the directors have been notified of
the following shareholding which amounts to 3% or more of the
Company's issued ordinary share capital:

Number of shares %

FMR Corporation/ Fidelity
International Limited 17,649,053 13.99

Post balance sheet events

There have been no significant events since the year-end which
would require disclosure in the financial statements.

Directors

Mr. P. Lynch retired as Chairman on 31 August 2005 and

Mr. D. Lucey was appointed Chairman on that date.
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Directors’ report (continued)

Directors (continued)

Mr. J. C. Moloney (deceased) retired on 30 January 2006.

Mr. P. McEniff, Mr. H. Kane and Dr. P. Wall retire by rotation in
accordance with the Articles of Association and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election. Mr. D. Buckley, Mr. J. B. Davy,
Mr. P. Lynch, Mr. D. Martin and Mr. W. G. Murphy, having served
more than nine years as directors retire, and offer themselves
for re-election as recommended by the 2003 Combined Code.
None of these non-executive directors has a service contract
with any Group company.

There were no other changes in directors during the year.

Going concern

The directors have a reasonable expectation, having made
appropriate enquiries, that the Group and the Company have
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Auditor

In accordance with Section 160(2) of the Companies Act,
1963, the auditor, KPMG, Chartered Accountants, will continue
in office.

On behalf of the Board

D. Lucey O. Killian 25 September, 2006
Director Director
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Corporate governance statement
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

The Group continues to be committed to maintaining the
highest standards of corporate governance. The Irish Stock
Exchange requires Irish listed companies to make a statement
on how they have applied the principles and how they have
complied with the provisions set out in the 2003 Combined
Code on Corporate Governance (the Combined Code), which is
appended to the Listing Rules of the Irish and London Stock
Exchanges. This statement is set out below.

Compliance with the Combined Code provisions

The directors have reviewed corporate governance
requirements in accordance with the Combined Code. The Board
considers that all of its members are independent in both
character and judgement. It is the intention of the Board to
move to a position where at least half of its membership,
excluding the Chairman, consists of directors determined to be
independent by the Board based on the criteria as included in
the Combined Code. It is intended that this be done on a phased
and orderly basis over a reasonable timeframe. The Audit
Committee consists entirely of directors determined to be
independent based on these criteria. It is also the intention of
the Board to move to a position where the Remuneration
Committee comprises solely, and the Nominations Committee
comprises a majority, of such independent directors. At present
four of the non-executive directors are independent based on
these criteria. They are Ms. B. Dardis, Ms. N. Hynes, Dr. P. Wall
and Mr. P. N. Wilkinson. The directors confirm that the Company
has complied with the provisions of the Combined Code in all
other respects throughout the accounting period. 

The Board and Committees

The Board comprises three executive and ten non-executive
directors. Enhanced and effective governance is achieved by
the separation of the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer. The Board is satisfied that the commitments of the
Chairman outside the Group are not such as to interfere with
the performance of his duties as Chairman of the Group. The
Board is responsible for setting the strategic direction and for
providing leadership and control of the Company and Group.

The Board has reserved to itself decision making in the areas of: 
• Continuity or alteration of strategic direction of the Group.
• Appointment or dismissal of the Chief Executive Officer or the

Company Secretary and recommendation for appointment or
dismissal of any member of the board.

• Director and senior executive management succession
planning.

• Policy on remuneration for executive directors and senior
executive management.

• The issue of shares and debentures.

• Authorisation of arrangement of borrowing facilities.

• Setting budgets.

• Authorisation of major capital expenditure, acquisitions

and disposals.

• Dividend policy.

Certain other matters are delegated to Board committees, the

details of which are set out below. Written terms of reference

of all committees have been established. 

The Chairman is responsible in particular for the operational

efficiency of the Board and for ensuring that all directors have

full and timely access to the information necessary to enable

them to discharge their duties. The Board has delegated

responsibility for the day-to-day management of the Group,

through the Chief Executive Officer, to executive management. 

The directors have full access to the advice and services of the

Company Secretary, who also acts as secretary to all of the

Board committees, is responsible to the Board for ensuring that

Board procedures are followed and ensuring compliance with

applicable rules and regulations. The directors also have access

to independent professional advice, at the Group’s expense, if

and when required. 

On appointment to the Board, directors are provided with

comprehensive documentation on the Group’s operations,

and are given the opportunity to visit sites and meet with

key management. Directors also attend relevant courses

and seminars, as appropriate. 

The Board considers that it is composed of persons who bring

a balance of skills and experience which is appropriate to the

requirements of the business. Changes to the Board’s

composition can be arranged without undue disruption. 

All directors are required to retire by rotation in accordance

with the Company’s Articles of Association. Since 1 August 2003

non-executive directors’ appointments are for a period of three

years with the possibility of a further three-year term. 

Mr. P. N. Wilkinson is Senior Independent Director and was

appointed on 13 September 2005. The previous Senior

Independent Director was Mr. D. Lucey. Mr. P. N. Wilkinson is

available to shareholders if they have concerns that cannot

be addressed through the normal channels of Chairman,

Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer. 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

Board meetings
Meetings of directors are held regularly, usually on a monthly

basis. Thirteen Board meetings were held during the year.

Details of the meetings held during the year, both of the Board

and of the Board committees, are contained in the schedule

above, which also includes information on individual

attendance. In addition to the regular Board and committee

meetings, the Chairman meets with the non-executive directors

periodically without the executive directors being present. 

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises four non-executive directors,

namely Ms. N. Hynes (Chairman), Ms. B. Dardis, Dr. P. Wall and

Mr. P. N. Wilkinson. The Committee met five times during the

year. Ms. N. Hynes is a Chartered Accountant and has

significant recent and relevant financial experience.

The Audit Committee’s role includes monitoring the integrity of

the Group financial statements, and reviewing the interim and

full year results announcements and significant financial

reporting judgements contained therein. The Audit Committee

also reviews the Group’s internal controls, and the scope and

effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function. The Head of

Internal Audit has direct access to the Board Chairman and to

the Audit Committee at all times and he and the Chief Financial

Officer regularly attend meetings of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee is responsible for making

recommendations to the Board in relation to the appointment

and removal of the external auditor and for approving their

remuneration and terms of engagement. It monitors the

effectiveness of the audit process through regular contact

with the auditor, and review of the audit plan and findings. 

The Committee monitors the external auditor’s independence

and objectivity, taking into consideration relevant professional

and regulatory requirements, extent of services provided and

fees paid. 

The Audit Committee is also responsible for developing a policy

on the engagement of the external auditor to provide non-audit

services. The Audit Committee regularly monitors the non-audit

services being provided to the Group by its external auditor, and

has developed an Auditor Independence Policy to check that

this does not impair its independence or objectivity. The policy

sets out four key principles which underpin the provision of

non-audit services by the external auditor: the auditor should

not audit its own firm’s work, make management decisions for

the Group, have a mutuality of financial interest with the Group,

or be put in the role of advocate for the Group. Activities that

may be perceived to be in conflict with the role of 

the external auditor must be submitted to the Audit

Committee for approval prior to engagement, regardless

of the amounts involved. 

Meetings held and attended in the financial year ended 31 July 2006 during the tenure of each director. 

Board Acquisitions & Strategy Audit Nomination Remuneration

Attended Eligible Attended Eligible Attended Eligible Attended Eligible Attended Eligible

to Attend to Attend to Attend to Attend to Attend

D. Buckley 10 13 0 1 10 10

B. Dardis 13 13 3 3

J. B. Davy 13 13 6 6 1 1 6 6

N. Hynes 13 13 5 5

H. Kane 12 13

O. Killian 13 13 6 6

D. Lucey 13 13 6 6 1 1 4 4

P. Lynch 10 13

D. Martin 13 13

P. McEniff 12 13 6 6

J. C. Moloney* 6 7 2 2 7 7

W. G. Murphy 13 13 2 2 3 3

P. Wall 12 13 4 5

P. N. Wilkinson 12 13 6 6 3 5

* J. C. Moloney (deceased) retired on 30 January 2006
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Corporate governance statement (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

Audit Committee (continued)
In 2006 the Audit Committee, operating under its terms of
reference, discharged its responsibilities by reviewing:
• the Group’s draft 2005 financial statements and 2006

interim results statement prior to Board approval and
reviewing the external auditor’s reports thereon;

• the appropriateness of the Group’s accounting policies; 
• and approving the 2006 audit fee and reviewing non-audit

fees payable to the Group’s external auditor in 2006;
• the external auditor’s plan for the audit of the Group’s 2006

accounts, which included key areas of extended scope work,
key risks on the accounts, confirmations of auditor
independence and the proposed audit fee, and approving
the terms of engagement for the audit;

• the output of the Group’s risk assessment processes;
• post-acquisition reports on integration and performance

of significant recent acquisitions;
• the internal audit function’s terms of reference, resources,

its 2006 work programme and reports on its work during
the year;

• the arrangements by which staff may in confidence, raise
concerns about possible improprieties in matters of financial
reporting or other matters;

• in detail the restatement of the Group’s 2005 accounts in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards,
as adopted by the EU;

• the Group’s Financial Policies and Procedures manual. 

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprises Mr. J. B. Davy
(Chairman), Mr. D. Buckley and Mr. D. Lucey, all of whom are
non-executive directors. The Nomination Committee is
responsible for recommending to the Board directors for co-
option and for the continuous review of senior management
succession plans. The Board has not engaged external search
services nor utilised open advertising in the appointment of
non-executive directors. Instead, the process that has been
used is for existing directors to mention the names of persons
who meet specific requirements in terms of qualifications and
experience. The Nomination Committee then considers the
suitability of such persons in greater detail.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises Mr. J. B. Davy
(Chairman), Mr. W. G. Murphy and Mr. D. Buckley, all non-
executive directors, who determine and approve the Group
policy on executive remuneration packages. The Group’s
remuneration policy for executive directors and details of
directors’ remuneration in accordance with the Listing Rules

of the Irish Stock Exchange are contained in the Report on
directors’ remuneration on pages 39 to 43.

Acquisition and Strategy Committee
The Acquisition and Strategy Committee comprises Mr. D. Lucey
(Chairman), Mr. O. Killian, Mr. P. McEniff, Mr. P. N. Wilkinson and
Mr. J. B. Davy. They are responsible to the Board for the detailed
evaluation of acquisition prospects and for making
recommendations thereon. They are also responsible to the
Board for the continuous review of the strategic direction
and plans being pursued by the Group.

Performance evaluation

Evaluation of the Board as a whole is the responsibility of
the Board under the direction of the Chairman. The evaluation
process involves the assessment of the extent to which
objectives are achieved. During the year performance
evaluations of the Board, individual directors and Board
committees were conducted by the Chairman. The evaluation
process involved discussion with members of the Board on
an individual basis.

The non-executive directors, under the leadership of the Senior
Independent Director, Mr P. N. Wilkinson are responsible for the
performance evaluation of the Chairman. During the year,
Mr Wilkinson met with each non-executive director individually
on a formal basis for this purpose and consulted, also, with the
executive directors.

Internal controls

The directors have overall responsibility for the Group’s system
of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. This
involves an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and
managing the significant risks faced by the Group and
reviewing the effectiveness of the resultant system of internal
control throughout the period and up to the date of approval
of the Annual Report and Financial Statements. This system is
designed to manage risks that may impede the achievement
of the Group’s business objectives rather than to eliminate
these risks. The internal control system therefore provides
reasonable, though not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The directors confirm that the Group’s ongoing process for
identifying, evaluating and managing its significant risks is
in accordance with the Turnbull Guidance, Internal Control: 

Guidance for Directors on the Combined Code, for the year 
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Internal controls (continued)

under review and to the date of approval of the Annual Report

and Financial Statements. These procedures, which are

subject to regular review, provide an ongoing process for

identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks

faced by the Group.

The key risks, which might impair the business from achieving

its objectives, are identified and assessed by conducting

detailed reviews with executive management at business unit

level. Management at all levels is responsible for internal

control. As such, the system of internal control throughout

the Group’s operations ensures that the organisation is capable

of responding quickly to evolving business risks, and that

significant internal control issues, should they arise, are

reported promptly to appropriate levels of management.

The directors have established a number of key procedures

designed to provide an effective system of internal control,

which include a provision for the directors to review the

effectiveness of the system. The key procedures, which are

supported by detailed controls and processes, include:

Internal audit

A Group internal audit function, reporting directly to the Audit

Committee, undertakes examinations of business processes

on a risk basis and reports on controls throughout the Group.

Control environment

Maintaining an organisation structure with defined lines of

responsibility and specified delegation of authority within which

the Group’s activities can be planned and monitored.

Financial reporting

A comprehensive financial reporting system involving the

setting of annual budgets and plans, timely monthly reporting

and variance analysis and ongoing review, supported by

information systems developed for the purpose.

Risk management policies

Comprehensive policies and procedures are in place relating

to computer security, capital expenditure, treasury risk

management and credit risk management. Reputational risk

management is also a key focus for the Group across all areas

of the business. 

Human resources
Emphasis is placed on the quality and abilities of our people
through continuing education, training and development.

Annual review of internal controls 

The directors confirm that they have conducted an annual
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control
as operated up to and including the date of approval of the
financial statements. This has had regard to the processes for
identifying the principal business risks facing the Group, the
methods of managing those risks, the controls that are in
place to contain them and the procedures to monitor them.

Communication with shareholders

Responsibility for effective communications with shareholders
and for the Board’s understanding of the views of major
shareholders rests with the Chairman. However on a day-to-day
basis, contact with shareholders is with the Chief Executive
Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, but the Senior
Independent Director and any other member of the Board
are available to meet major investors if required. Such
communications are given high priority and there is regular
dialogue with individual shareholders, as well as general
presentations at the time of the release of the annual and
interim results. 

The Board papers, which are distributed to all directors in
advance of Board meetings, include a report prepared by the
Chief Financial Officer summarising investor relations activity
during the preceding month including contacts between
directors and executive management and current and
prospective shareholders. The views of shareholders about
the Group expressed through such contacts are also included
in the report. 

The Group issues its results promptly to individual shareholders
and also publishes them on the Group’s website, www.iaws.com.
The Company’s Annual General Meeting affords each shareholder
the opportunity to question the Chairman of the Board, the
Chairmen of all committees and all other Board members. The
notice of AGM and related papers are sent to shareholders at
least 20 working days before the meeting. In addition, the
Company responds throughout the year to numerous queries
from shareholders on a broad range of issues. 
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Report on directors’ remuneration
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee at 31 July 2006, comprised
Mr. J. B. Davy (Chairman), Mr. W. G. Murphy and Mr. D. Buckley,
all non-executive directors, who have no financial interests,
other than as shareholders, in the matters to be decided, no
potential conflicts of interest arising from cross-directorships
and no day-to-day involvement in the running of the business.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are to
determine the Group’s policy on remuneration of executive
directors and to consider and approve the salaries and other
terms of the remuneration package for the executive directors.
The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for monitoring
the level and structure of remuneration for senior management.

Remuneration policy

The remuneration of the non-executive directors is determined
by the Board, and reflects the time commitment and
responsibilities of the role. The Group’s policy on executive
directors’ remuneration recognises that employment and
remuneration conditions for senior executives must properly
reward and motivate them to perform in the best interests of
the shareholders. The typical elements of the remuneration
package for executive directors are basic salary and benefits,
performance related bonuses, pensions, participation in the
Company’s share option plan and participation in the
Company’s executive incentive and retention plan. 

Executive directors’ basic salary and benefits

Basic salary of executive directors is reviewed annually with
regard to personal performance, Group performance and
competitive market practice. Employment related benefits
consist principally of a company car.

Performance related bonus

The Group pays performance related annual bonuses to
executive directors which are linked to the overall performance
of the Group.

Pensions

Pension benefits are determined solely in relation to basic
salary.

Share option plan

The Group operates one share option plan and it is the policy
to grant options to key management to encourage identification
with shareholder interests. Options are exercisable based on the
achievement of EPS performance targets over a three to five
year period.

Group executive incentive and retention plan

The Group executive incentive and retention plan operates on
an individual basis by providing contingent entitlement to a
lump sum award referable to reckonable salary. Awards are
made subject to achievement of growth in the earnings per
share of IAWS Group, plc. The award is applied through the
purchase of shares in IAWS Group, plc to be held by a trustee
for the benefit of individual participants for a 3 to 5 year period.
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Report on directors’ remuneration (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

Directors’ remuneration

2006 2005
€’000 €’000

Executive directors
Basic salaries 1,099 1,066
Performance bonus 966 950
Benefits in kind 85 81
Pension contributions 194 331
Executive incentive and retention plan 282 141

2,626 2,569

Average number of executive directors 3 3

Non-executive directors
Fees 781 720

Average number of non-executive directors 11 12
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Report on directors’ remuneration (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

Individual directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 July 2006

Basic Performance Pension EIRP Total Total
salary bonus BIK contributions cost 2006 2005
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Executive directors
O. Killian (1) 533 400 27 96 120 1,176 1,181
P. McEniff (2) 283 283 34 51 81 732 636
H. Kane (3) 283 283 24 47 81 718 656
D. Martin (4) - - - - - - 96

1,099 966 85 194 282 2,626 2,569

(1) During the year the plan invested €300,000 in IAWS Group, plc shares on behalf of Mr. O. Killian in respect of his 2005 award and
will invest a further €300,000 in the coming year in respect of his 2006 award. Mr O. Killian will own each allotment of shares five
years after each investment. 

(2) During the year the plan invested €202,500 in IAWS Group, plc shares on behalf of Mr. P. McEniff in respect of his 2005 award and
will invest a further €202,500 in the coming year in respect of his 2006 award. Mr. P. McEniff will own each allotment of shares five
years after each investment. 

(3) During the year the plan invested €202,500 in IAWS Group, plc shares on behalf of Mr. H. Kane in respect of his 2005 award and will
invest a further €202,500 in the coming year in respect of his 2006 award. Mr. H. Kane will own each allotment of shares five years
after each investment.

(4) Mr. D. Martin retired from an executive role on 27 October 2004.
2006 2005

€’000 €’000
Non-executive directors
D. Lucey 187 40
P. Lynch 71 300
D. Martin 50 20
D. Buckley 60 40
J. B. Davy 70 40
B. Dardis 55 40
P. McCarrick - 40
J. C. Moloney 38 40
W. G. Murphy 55 40
N. Hynes 70 40
P. Wall 55 40
P. N. Wilkinson 70 40

781 720
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Pension entitlements

The aggregate pension benefits attributable to directors under defined benefit schemes for the year were as follows:

2006 Accrued annual Increase in Transfer value Accrued annual

pension at accrued pension of increase pension at 

31 July 2006 (excluding inflation) (excluding inflation) 31 July 2005

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

O. Killian 249 35 400 208
P. McEniff 57 23 82 34
D. Martin 413 - - 413

719 58 482 655

2005 Accrued annual Increase in Transfer value Accrued annual

pension at accrued pension of increase pension at 

31 July 2005 (excluding inflation) (excluding inflation) 31 July 2004

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

O. Killian 208 59 606 145
P. McEniff 34 2 2 -
D. Martin 413 - - 413

655 61 608 558
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Report on directors’ remuneration (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

Directors’ and Company Secretary’s share interests

The directors and Company Secretary who held office at 31 July 2006 had no interests, other than those shown below, in the shares in,
or loan stock of, the Company or other Group undertakings. Beneficial interests at 31 July 2006 and 31 July 2005 were as follows:

Ordinary Shares in IAWS Group, plc at 30 cent each No. of No. of
shares shares

2006 2005
Directors
D. Lucey 2,500 2,500
O. Killian 312,845 87,435
P. McEniff 123,851 31,699
H. Kane 105,452 3,300
D. Buckley 4,500 4,500
B. Dardis 12,300 4,800
J. B. Davy 116,373 116,373
N. Hynes 2,000 2,000
P. Lynch 451,438 181,438
D. Martin 80,158 80,158
W. G. Murphy 6,912 6,912
P. Wall 1,000 -
P. N. Wilkinson 11,000 -

Secretary
A. Lowther 107,534 107,534

There have been no changes in the interests as shown above between 31 July 2006 and 25 September 2006. 

Directors’ and Company Secretary’s interests in share options

Earliest Latest Weighted average 

2005 Granted Exercised 2006 exercisable expiry option price at

Options in year in year Options date† date‡ 31 July 2006

Directors
P. Lynch 230,000 - 230,000 - - - -
O. Killian 235,000 295,000 160,000 370,000 30/10/2006 21/04/2016 1,262.12
D. Martin 210,000 - - 210,000 07/10/2001 31/03/2011 659.48
P. McEniff 125,000 230,000 55,000 300,000 30/10/2006 21/04/2016 1,267.78
H. Kane 175,000 210,000 85,000 300,000 30/10/2006 21/04/2016 1,210.98

Secretary
A. Lowther - - - - - - -

† First tranche of options granted
‡ Last tranche of options granted

Options over 530,000 ordinary shares were exercised by the directors and Company Secretary of IAWS Group, plc during the year at an
average option price of 705.07 cent per share. The market price of the ordinary shares at 31 July 2006 was 1,450 cent and the range
during the year was 1,120 cent to 1,510 cent. The register of directors' interests contains full details of directors' options to subscribe
for shares.
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report
and the Group and Company financial statements, in
accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and
Company financial statements for each financial year. Under
that law the directors are required to prepare the Group financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU (EU IFRS) and have
elected to prepare the Company financial statements in
accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in
Ireland, comprising applicable law and the financial reporting
standards issued by the Accounting Standards Board and
promulgated by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland. 

The Group financial statements are required by law and EU IFRS
to present fairly the financial position and performance of the
Group; the Companies Acts 1963 to 2005 provide, in relation to
such financial statements, that references in the relevant part
of that Act to financial statements giving a true and fair view are
references to their achieving a fair presentation. The Company
financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company. 

In preparing each of the Group and Company financial
statements, the directors are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently; 

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and
prudent; and 

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the
Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper books of
account that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure
that its financial statements comply with the Companies Acts
1963 to 2005. They are also responsible for taking such steps
as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the
Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. 

Under applicable law and the requirements of the Listing Rules
issued by the Irish Stock Exchange, the directors are also
responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report and reports
relating to directors’ remuneration and corporate governance
that comply with that law and those Rules. 

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity
of the corporate and financial information included on the
Group’s website. Legislation in the Republic of Ireland governing
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

On behalf of the Board

D. Lucey O. Killian 25 September, 2006
Director Director
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of IAWS Group, plc

We have audited the Group and Company financial statements
(the ‘‘financial statements’’) of IAWS Group, plc for the year
ended 31 July 2006, which comprise the Group Income
Statement, the Group Balance Sheet, the Group Cash Flow
Statement, the Group Statement of Recognised Income and
Expense, the Group Statement of Accounting Policies and the
related notes, and the Company Balance Sheet, Company
Statement of Accounting Policies and related notes. These
financial statements have been prepared under the accounting
policies set out therein. 

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a
body, in accordance with Section 193 of the Companies Act
1990. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might
state to the Company’s members those matters we are required
to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and
the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor 

The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report
and the Group financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and EU IFRS, and for preparing the Company
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
the accounting standards issued by the Accounting Standards
Board and promulgated by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in Ireland (Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice in Ireland), are set out in the Statement of
Directors’ Responsibilities on page 44.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial
statements give a true and fair view and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Acts 1963 to 2005
and whether, in addition, the Group financial statements have
been properly prepared in accordance with Article 4 of the IAS
Regulation. We also report to you our opinion as to: whether
proper books of account have been kept by the Company;
whether at the balance sheet date, there exists a financial
situation requiring the convening of an extraordinary general
meeting of the Company; and whether the information given
in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial
statements. In addition, we state whether we have obtained all

the information and explanations necessary for the purposes
of our audit and whether the Company balance sheet is in
agreement with the books of account.

We also report to you if, in our opinion, any information
specified by law or the Listing Rules of the Irish Stock Exchange
regarding directors’ remuneration and directors’ transactions is
not disclosed and, where practicable, include such information
in our report.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement
reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of
the 2003 Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing
Rules of the Irish Stock Exchange, and we report if it does not.
We are not required to consider whether the Board’s statements
on internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate
governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report
and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial
statements. The other information comprises only the Financial
Highlights, the Chairman’s Statement, the Review of Business
Operations, the Financial Review, the Directors’ Report, the
Corporate Governance Statement, and the Report on Directors’
Remuneration. We consider the implications for our report if we
become aware of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our
responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis,
of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the
significant estimates and judgements made by the directors
in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether
the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and
Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and
adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other
irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated
the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the
financial statements. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of IAWS Group, plc
(continued)

Opinion

In our opinion
• the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in

accordance with EU IFRS, of the state of the Group’s affairs
as at 31 July 2006 and of its profit for the year then ended; 

• the Group financial statements have been properly prepared
in accordance with the Companies Acts 1963 to 2005 and
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation; 

• the Company financial statements give a true and fair view,
in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
in Ireland, of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 July
2006; and 

• the Company financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Acts 1963
to 2005.

We have obtained all the information and explanations which
we consider necessary for the purposes of our audit. In our
opinion proper books of account have been kept by the
Company. The Company balance sheet is in agreement with
the books of account.

In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report
is consistent with the financial statements.

The net assets of the Company, as stated in the Company
balance sheet, are more than half of the amount of its called-up
share capital and, in our opinion, on that basis there did not
exist at 31 July 2006 a financial situation which under Section
40 (1) of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1983 would require
the convening of an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company.

KPMG

Chartered Accountants
Registered Auditor 

25 September, 2006
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Group income statement
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

Pre- Pre-
exceptional Exceptional Total exceptional Exceptional Total

2006 2006 2006 2005 2005 2005
Notes €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Revenue 1 1,557,305 - 1,557,305 1,408,174 - 1,408,174
Cost of sales (1,204,238) - (1,204,238) (1,110,506) - (1,110,506)

Gross profit 353,067 - 353,067 297,668 - 297,668
Operating costs, net 2 (241,252) 1,347 (239,905) (199,120) 8,627 (190,493)

Operating profit before amortisation 

of intangible assets 1 111,815 1,347 113,162 98,548 8,627 107,175
Amortisation of intangible assets 13 (7,100) - (7,100) (4,624) - (4,624)

Operating profit 104,715 1,347 106,062 93,924 8,627 102,551
Share of profit of associates

and joint venture 6 25,653 - 25,653 21,520 - 21,520

Profit before financing costs 130,368 1,347 131,715 115,444 8,627 124,071
Financing income 3 4,964 - 4,964 3,818 - 3,818
Financing costs 3 (18,893) - (18,893) (16,118) - (16,118)

Profit before tax 116,439 1,347 117,786 103,144 8,627 111,771
Income tax expense 9 (17,800) (857) (18,657) (15,772) (1,363) (17,135)

Profit for the financial year 98,639 490 99,129 87,372 7,264 94,636

Attributable as follows:
Equity shareholders 98,798 94,360
Minority interest 28 331 276

99,129 94,636

Basic earnings per share 11 78.68c 75.86c

Diluted earnings per share 11 77.77c 74.87c
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Group statement of recognised income and expense
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

2006 2005
Notes €’000 €’000

Items of income and expense recognised directly in equity

Foreign exchange translation adjustment (57) (1,097)
Share of associates’ foreign exchange translation adjustment 524 -
Actuarial gain/(loss) on Group and associate defined benefit pension schemes 4,811 (10,175)
Deferred tax effect of actuarial (loss)/gain (469) 1,063
Gains relating to cash flow hedges 153 -
Deferred tax effect of cash flow hedges (40) -

Net income/(expense) recognised directly in equity 4,922 (10,209)

Profit for the financial year 99,129 94,636            

Total recognised income and expense for the year 104,051 84,427

Attributable as follows:

Equity shareholders 27 103,699 84,226
Minority interest 28 352 201

Total recognised income and expense for the year 104,051 84,427

Impact of first time adoption of financial instrument standards, IAS 32 and IAS 39

Cash flow hedges 711

Deferred tax relating to cash flow hedges (89)

622
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Group balance sheet
AS AT 31 JULY 2006

2006 2005
ASSETS Notes €’000 €’000

Non current assets

Property, plant and equipment 12 308,388 287,578
Goodwill and intangible assets 13 334,024 336,028
Investments in associates and joint venture 14 159,221 116,087
Other investments 15 203 242
Deferred tax assets 24 8,474 15,029

Total non current assets 810,310 754,964

Current assets

Inventory 16 88,539 88,299
Trade and other receivables 17 206,178 173,514
Derivative financial instruments 22 1,532 -
Cash and cash equivalents 20 74,556 47,687

Total current assets 370,805 309,500

TOTAL ASSETS 1,181,115 1,064,464
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Group balance sheet (continued)
AS AT 31 JULY 2006

2006 2005
EQUITY Notes €’000 €’000

Called up share capital 26 37,856 37,471
Share premium 27 51,899 43,745
Retained earnings and other reserves 27 388,071 298,215

Total equity attributable to equity shareholders of parent 477,826 379,431

Minority interest 28 2,910 3,924

TOTAL EQUITY 480,736 383,355

LIABILITIES

Non current liabilities

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 21 285,945 237,555
Employee benefits 25 8,876 36,852
Deferred government grants 23 3,006 3,359
Other payables 18 345 450
Deferred tax liabilities 24 49,902 51,785
Provisions 19 30,360 31,950

Total non current liabilities 378,434 361,951

Current liabilities

Interest bearing borrowings 21 5,136 30,001
Trade and other payables 18 299,570 273,465
Corporation tax payable 13,832 11,027
Derivative financial instruments 22 747 -
Provisions 19 2,660 4,665

Total current liabilities 321,945 319,158

TOTAL LIABILITIES 700,379 681,109

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,181,115 1,064,464
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Group cash flow statement
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

2006 2005
Notes €’000 €’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax 117,786 111,771
Financing costs, net 13,929 12,300
Share of profit of associates and joint venture (25,653) (21,520)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 12 27,631 23,932
Amortisation of intangible assets 13 7,100 4,624
Amortisation of government grants 23 (354) (438)
Employee share-based payment charge 8 1,550 867
Loss/(profit) on termination of operations 2 572 (8,627)
(Profit)/loss on disposal of non-current assets (1,919) 454
Foreign exchange (gains)/losses (684) 728
Special pension contribution 25 (23,496) -

Operating profit before changes in working capital 116,462 124,091
(Increase)/decrease in inventory (84) 4,598
(Increase) in trade and other receivables (32,124) (26,229)
Increase in trade and other payables 21,189 18,049

Cash generated from operating activities 105,443 120,509
Interest paid (11,880) (12,411)
Income tax paid (11,583) (18,771)
Dividends paid to minority interests 28 - (205)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 81,980 89,122
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Group cash flow statement (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

2006 2005
Notes €’000 €’000

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 4,448 2,451

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
- Ongoing (7,910) (7,363)
- New investments (67,947) (43,931)
Acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses, net of cash acquired (2,644) (94,141)
Disposal of subsidiaries and businesses - 14,743
Disposal of other investments 655 -
Dividends received 19,118 16,223
Purchase of minority interest (1,366) -
Investments in associates and joint venture (35,061) (3,304)
Deferred consideration and acquisition costs paid (3,988) (6,788)
Other (480) 33

Net cash flow from investing activities (95,175) (122,077)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of share capital 8,539 6,121
Drawdown of loan capital 67,144 46,409
Capital element of finance lease liabilities (20,453) (565)
Equity dividends paid (16,036) (14,052)

Net cash flow from financing activities 39,194 37,913

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 25,999 4,958

Translation adjustment 380 (155)

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 43,419 38,616

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 20 69,798 43,419
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Group statement of accounting policies
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

IAWS Group, plc (the ‘‘Company’’) is a company domiciled

and incorporated in Ireland. The Group’s financial statements

for the year ended 31 July 2006 consolidate the individual

financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries

(together referred to as “the Group”) and show the Group’s

interest in associates and joint venture using the equity

method of accounting. 

The individual and Group financial statements of the

Company were authorised for issue by the directors on

25 September 2006.

Statement of compliance

As required by European Union (EU) law, from 1 August 2005

the Group financial statements have been prepared in

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

(IFRSs) as adopted by the EU. 

These are the Group’s first financial statements prepared in

accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU and IFRS 1, First-

time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards

has been applied.

The IFRSs adopted by the EU as applied by the Group in the

preparation of these financial statements are those that were

effective at 31 July 2006 together with the early adoption of the

Amendment to IAS 19, Actuarial Gains and Losses, Group Plans

and Disclosures. 

The following provides a brief outline of the likely impact on

future financial statements of relevant IFRSs adopted by the EU

which are not yet effective and have not been early adopted in

these financial statements. The directors have formed the

opinion that the adoption of these pronouncements will not

have a significant effect on the Group financial statements.

• Amendment to IAS 1, Capital disclosures.
• Amendment to IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign

Exchange Rates – Net investment in Foreign Operations.
• Amendment to IAS 39, Cash Flow Hedge Accounting of

Forecast Intragroup Transactions.
• Amendment to IAS 39, The Fair Value Option.
• Amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 4, Financial Guarantee

Contracts.
• IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosure.
• IFRIC 4, Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a

Lease.

First time adoption of IFRSs

The Group is required to determine its IFRS accounting policies

and apply them retrospectively to establish the opening

balance sheet under IFRS at its date of transition. 

The date of transition to IFRSs for the Group is 1 August 2004.

The transitional impact of the recognition and measurement

of IFRS was disclosed in the restatement of 2005 financial

information under IFRS, published in November 2005. Where

estimates had been made under Irish GAAP, consistent

estimates (after adjustments to reflect any difference in

accounting policies) have been made on transition to IFRS.

Judgements affecting the balance sheet of the Group have

not been revisited with the benefit of hindsight. 

The Group has taken advantage of the following exemptions

as permitted by IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International
Financial Reporting Standards.

Business combinations
The Group has elected not to apply the provisions of IFRS 3,

Business Combinations, retrospectively to business

combinations before 1 August 2004. Accordingly, no

adjustments have been made for historical business

combinations and accumulated amortisation on goodwill

arising before 1 August 2004 has not been reversed. The

net carrying value of goodwill under Irish GAAP has been

designated as the deemed cost of goodwill under IFRS.

Cumulative translation differences
Cumulative translation differences of foreign operations are

deemed to be zero at the date of transition.

Financial instruments
The Group has availed of the exemption not to restate

comparative amounts for 2005 for the impacts of IAS 32,

Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation, and IAS 39,

Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. These

are treated as changes in accounting policies and shown as

opening adjustments on 1 August 2005 and in the statement

of recognised income and expense.

Share based payment
The provisions of IFRS 2, Share Based Payment, in respect of

share-based payment plans have not been applied to options

and awards granted on or before 7 November 2002 which had

not vested by 1 January 2005.
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Group statement of accounting policies (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

Share based payment (continued)
The accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
financial statements for the year ended 31 July 2006 are set
out below. These have been applied consistently with the
exception of those accounting policies pertaining to IAS 32 and
IAS 39 on financial instruments which in accordance with the
transitional provisions of IFRS 1 were not applied in the
restatement of the 2005 comparatives presented in these
financial statements. Accounting policies affected by IAS 32 and
IAS 39 are highlighted and details of the policies applied in the
2005 Group financial statements are also set out below.

Basis of preparation 

The Group financial statements are prepared on the historical
cost basis except that the following assets and liabilities are
stated at their fair value: equity investments, derivative financial
instruments, pension obligations and share based payments.
The financial statements are presented in euro, rounded to the
nearest thousand, which is the functional currency of the parent
and the majority of the Group’s operations.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form
the basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

The areas involving a high degree of judgement or complexity,
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to
the Group financial statements, relate primarily to accounting
for defined benefit pension schemes, financial instruments,
share-based payments, provisions, intangible assets, goodwill
impairment and deferred tax.

Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements reflect the consolidation of the

results, assets and liabilities of the parent undertaking and
all of its subsidiaries, together with the Group’s share of
profits/losses of its associates and joint venture. Where a
subsidiary, associate or joint venture is acquired or disposed of
during the financial year, the Group financial statements include
the attributable results from or to the effective date when
control passes.

Subsidiary undertakings
Subsidiary undertakings are those entities over which the
Group has the power to control the operating and financial
policies so as to obtain economic benefit from their activities.
The amounts included in these financial statements in respect
of the subsidiaries are taken from their latest financial 
statements prepared up to the year end. Where necessary, the
accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Associates and joint venture 
Associates are those entities in which the Group has a
significant influence over, but not control of, the financial and
operating policies. Investments in associates are accounted
for using the equity method of accounting. Joint ventures are
those entities over whose operating and financial policies the
Group exercises control jointly, under a contractual agreement,
with one or more parties. Investments in joint ventures are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting. 

Under the equity method of accounting, the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition profits or losses of its associates and joint
venture is recognised in the income statement. The income
statement reflects, in profit before tax, the Group’s share of
profit after tax of its associates and joint venture in accordance
with IAS 28, Investments in Associates, and IAS 31, Interests in
Joint Ventures. The Group’s interest in their net assets is
included as investments in associates and joint venture in the
Group balance sheet at an amount representing the Group’s
share of the fair value of the identifiable net assets at
acquisition plus the Group’s share of post acquisition retained
income and expenses. The Group’s investment in associates
and joint venture includes goodwill on acquisition. The amounts 
included in these financial statements in respect of the post
acquisition income and expenses of associates and joint
venture are taken from their latest financial statements
prepared up to their respective year ends together with
management accounts for the intervening periods to the 
Group’s year end. Where necessary, the accounting policies
of associates and joint venture have been changed to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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Group statement of accounting policies (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains and losses or
income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions,
are eliminated in preparing the Group financial statements.
Unrealised gains and income and expenses arising from
transactions with associates and joint venture are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interest in the entity. Unrealised
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains,
but only to the extent that they do not provide evidence
of impairment.

Revenue

Revenue represents the fair value of the sale of goods and
services supplied to third parties, after deducting discounts and
exclusive of value added tax. Revenue is recognised when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have
passed to the buyer, it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be
measured reliably.

Segmental reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is
engaged either in providing products or services (business
segment) or in providing products or services within a particular
economic environment (geographic segment), which is subject
to risks and returns different from those of other segments. 

The Group’s primary format for segmental reporting is business
segments and the secondary format is geographical segments.
The risks and returns of the Group’s operations are primarily
determined by the different products that the Group sells rather
than the geographical location of the Group’s operations.

The Group has three business segments: Agriculture, Food
Europe, and Food North America. The Group’s geographical
segments are Europe and North America. Segment assets and
liabilities consist of property, plant and equipment, goodwill and
intangible assets and other assets and liabilities that can be
reasonably allocated to the reported segment. Unallocated
assets and liabilities principally include current and deferred
income tax balances together with financial assets and liabilities.

Research and development

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the
prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and

understanding, is recognised in the income statement as
an expense as incurred.

Expenditure on development activities, whereby research

findings are applied to a plan or design for the production of

new or substantially improved products and processes, is

capitalised if the product or process is technically and

commercially feasible and the Group has sufficient resources

to complete development. The expenditure capitalised includes

the cost of materials, direct labour and appropriate proportion

of overheads. Other development expenditure is recognised in

the income statement as an expense as incurred. Capitalised

development expenditure is stated at cost less accumulated

amortisation and impairment losses.

Employee benefits 

Pension obligations

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension

plans are recognised as an expense in the income statement

as they fall due. The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined

benefit pension plans is calculated, separately for each plan,

by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees

have earned in return for their service in the current and prior

periods; that benefit is discounted to determine the present

value, and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted. The

discount rate is the yield at the balance sheet date on high

quality corporate bonds that have maturity dates approximating

the terms of the Group’s obligations. The calculation is

performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit

credit method. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the

statement of recognised income and expense. Current and past

service costs, interest on scheme liabilities and expected return

on assets are recognised in the income statement. 

Equity settled compensation 
The fair value of options granted under the Group’s equity

settled share option scheme is recognised as an expense with

a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured

at grant date and spread over the period during which the

employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. The

fair value of the options granted is measured using an approved

binomial model, taking into account the terms and conditions 

under which the options were granted. The scheme is subject to

a non-market vesting condition and, therefore, the amount

recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual

number of share options that vest.
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Group statement of accounting policies (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

Long term incentive plan
The Group operates an incentive and retention plan for

executives. The plan operates on an individual basis by

providing contingent entitlement to a lump sum award referable

to reckonable salary. Awards are applied through the purchase

of shares in the Group to be held by a trustee for the benefit

of individual participants for a 3 to 5 year period. The costs

associated with the plan are written off to the income

statement on a straight-line basis over the relevant period.

Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and

deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement except

to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in

equity, in which case the related tax is recognised in equity. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income

for the year, using tax rates and laws that have been enacted

or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date, and any

adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability

method, providing for temporary differences between the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting

purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred

tax is provided for any differences that exist between the tax

base and the carrying value of intangible assets arising from

business combinations but is not provided on non-tax

deductible goodwill. The amount of deferred tax provided is

based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of

the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates

enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. If

the deferred tax arises from initial recognition of an asset or

liability in a transaction other than a business combination that

at the time of the transaction does not affect accounting or

taxable profit or loss, it is not recognised. Deferred tax is

provided on temporary differences arising on investments in

subsidiaries, associates and joint venture, except where the

timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled

by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference

will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is

probable that future taxable profits will be available against

which the asset can be recovered. Deferred tax assets are

reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the

related tax benefit will be realised.

Foreign currency 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign

exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary

assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the

balance sheet date are translated to functional currency at the

foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange

differences arising on translation are recognised in the

income statement. 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including

goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation,

are translated to euro at the foreign exchange rates ruling at

the balance sheet date. The revenues and expenses of foreign

operations are translated to euro at the actual rates when the

transactions occurred. Foreign exchange differences arising

on translation of the net assets of a foreign operation are

recognised directly in equity, in a translation reserve.

Exchange gains or losses on long term intra-group loans and on

foreign currency borrowings, used to finance or provide a hedge

against Group equity investments in non-euro denominated

operations, are taken to the translation reserve to the extent

that they are neither planned nor expected to be repaid in the

foreseeable future or are expected to provide an effective

hedge of the net investment. Any differences that have arisen

since 1 August 2004, the date of transition to IFRS, are

recognised in the currency translation reserve and are

recycled through the income statement on the repayment

of the intra-group loan or on disposal of the related business.

Dividends

Dividends are recognised in the period in which they are

approved by the Company’s shareholders, or in the case of an

interim dividend, when it has been approved by the Board of

Directors and paid.

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Other

subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases 

the future economic benefits embodied in the item of property,

plant and equipment. All other expenditure including repairs

and maintenance costs is recognised in the income statement

as an expense as incurred. 

Annual report 2006 for PDF  21/11/06  12:18  Page 56



57

I A W S  G R O U P , P L C  A N N U A L  R E P O R T 00 66

Group statement of accounting policies (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost less estimated
residual value of property, plant and equipment, other than
freehold land, on a straight line basis, by reference to the
following estimated useful lives:

Buildings 25 to 50 years
Plant & machinery 3 to 15 years
Motor vehicles 3 to 7.5 years

The residual value of assets, if significant, and the useful life
of assets is reassessed annually.

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment
are recognised on the ultimate completion of sale. Gains and
losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds
received with the carrying amount and are included in
operating profit.

Leased assets

Leases of property, plant and equipment, where the Group has
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, are
classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at
the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the
leased asset or the present value of the minimum lease
payments. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance
charges, are included in interest bearing loans and borrowings.
The interest element of the payments is charged to the income
statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period. The asset acquired under the finance lease is
depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or
the lease term. 

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the
income statement on a straight line basis over the lease term.

Goodwill

All business combinations are accounted for by applying the
purchase method. Goodwill represents amounts arising on
acquisition of subsidiaries, associates and the joint venture. In
respect of acquisitions that have occurred since 1 August 2004,
goodwill represents the difference between the cost of the
acquisition and the fair value of the net identifiable assets

acquired. In respect of acquisitions prior to this date, goodwill is
included on the basis of its deemed cost, i.e. original cost less
accumulated amortisation from the date of acquisition up to 31
July 2004, which represents the amount recorded under Irish
GAAP. Goodwill is now stated at cost or deemed cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. In respect of associates and
the joint venture, the carrying amount of goodwill is included in
the carrying amount of the investment. 

Goodwill which arose on acquisitions prior to 1 August 1998

was eliminated against reserves on acquisition as a matter of

accounting policy. In preparing the Group’s IFRS balance sheet

at 1 August 2004 this goodwill is considered to have been

permanently offset against retained earnings and, on any

subsequent disposal, will not form part of the gain or loss on

the disposal of the business.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination

are valued at their fair value at the date of acquisition. These

generally include brand and customer related intangible assets.

Where intangible assets are separately acquired they are

capitalised at cost. Intangible assets are amortised over the

period of their expected useful lives in equal annual

instalments. The expected useful lives of intangible assets

ranges from 12 to 20 years.

Computer software that is not an integral part of an item of

computer hardware is also classified as an intangible asset.

These intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated

amortisation and impairment losses. Cost comprises purchase

price and other directly attributable costs. The expected useful

life of computer software is 5 years.

Impairment 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets, other than

inventories (which are carried at the lower of cost and net

realisable value), deferred tax assets (which are recognised

based on recoverability), and those financial instruments,

which are carried at fair value, are reviewed to determine

whether there is an indication of impairment when an event

or transaction indicates that there may be, except for goodwill

and long life intangibles which are reviewed annually. If any

such indication exists, an impairment test is carried out and

the asset is written down to its recoverable amount.
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Group statement of accounting policies (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

Impairment (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying
amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the
income statement. Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit
and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in
the unit on a pro rata basis. An impairment loss, other than in
the case of goodwill, is reversed if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Other investments

Other investments are initially recognised at the fair value
of the consideration given inclusive of any acquisition
charges arising. 

Inventory

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost on a first in, first out
basis and net realisable value. Cost includes all expenditure,
which has been incurred in the normal course of business in
bringing the products to their present location and condition.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price of inventory
on hand less all further costs to completion and all costs
expected to be incurred in marketing, distribution and selling.

Trade and other receivables and payables

Trade and other receivables and payables are stated at cost,
which approximates fair value given the short-dated nature
of these assets and liabilities.

Trade receivables are carried at original invoice amount less an
allowance for potentially uncollectible debts. Provision is made
when there is objective evidence that the Group may not be in
a position to collect the associated debts.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash
at bank and in hand and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s

cash management are included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows.

Financial assets and liabilities 

Set out below are the major methods and assumptions used
in estimating the fair values of financial assets and liabilities.

Equity investments
When market values are available, fair value is determined by
reference to the bid market price for such investments without
any deduction for transaction costs. When market values are
not available, the fair values have been determined based on
expected future cash flows at current interest rates and
exchange rates. 

Short term bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents
For short term bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents
with a remaining maturity of less than one year, the nominal
amount is considered to approximate fair value. 

Trade and other receivables/payables
For receivables and payables with a remaining life of less
than one year or demand balances, the nominal amount is
considered to approximate fair value. All other receivables
and payables are discounted to determine their fair value.

Derivatives 
Forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps are marked
to market using quoted market values.

Interest bearing loans and borrowings
For interest bearing loans and borrowings with a contractual
repricing date of less than one year, the nominal amount is
considered to approximate fair value. For loans with a repricing
date of greater than one year, the fair value is calculated based
on the expected future principal and interest cash flows,
discounted at appropriate current market interest rates. 

Finance lease liabilities
Fair value is based on the present value of future cash flows
discounted at appropriate current market rates.

Derivative financial instruments

– for the year ended 31 July 2006

All derivatives are initially recorded at fair value on the date the
contract is entered into and subsequently, at reporting dates 
remeasured to their fair value. The gain or loss arising on 
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Group statement of accounting policies (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

Derivative financial instruments

– for the year ended 31 July 2006 (continued)

remeasurement is recognised in the income statement except
where the instrument is a designated hedging instrument. 
Derivative financial instruments are used to manage the
Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk, interest rate risk
and commodity price risk through the use of forward currency
contracts, interest rate swaps and futures contracts. These
derivatives are generally designated as cash flow hedges in
accordance with IAS 39. The Group does not enter into
speculative derivative transactions.

Cash flow hedges
Subject to the satisfaction of certain criteria, relating to the
documentation of the risk, objectives and strategy for the
hedging transaction and the ongoing measurement of its
effectiveness, cash flow hedges are accounted for under hedge
accounting rules. In such cases, any unrealised gain or loss
arising on the effective portion of the derivative instrument is
recognised in the cash flow hedging reserve, a separate
component of equity. Unrealised gains or losses on any
ineffective portion of the derivative are recognised in the
income statement. When the hedged transaction occurs the
related gains or losses in the hedging reserve are transferred
to the income statement. 

Derivative financial instruments

– for the year ended 31 July 2005

The Group enters into transactions in the normal course of
business using a variety of financial instruments, including
spot and forward exchange contracts and interest rate swap
agreements, in order to reduce exposure to foreign exchange
risk and interest rate fluctuations.

The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial
instruments for speculative purposes.

Forward foreign currency contracts
The criteria for forward foreign currency contracts are:

• the instrument must be related to a foreign currency
transaction that is probable and whose characteristics
have been identified;

• it must involve the same currency or similar currencies
as the hedged item; and 

• it must reduce the risk of foreign currency exchange
movements on the Group's operations.

The rates under such contracts are used to record the hedged
transaction. As a result, gains and losses are offset against the
foreign exchange gains and losses on the related financial
assets or liabilities or, where the instrument is used to hedge
a committed or probable future transaction, it is deferred until
the transaction occurs.

Interest rate swaps
The Group's criteria for interest rate swaps are:

• the instrument must be related to an asset or liability; and

• it must change the nature of the interest rate by converting
a variable rate to a fixed rate.

Interest differentials under these swaps are recognised by
adjusting net interest payable over the period of the contract.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost.

Government grants

Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are
shown as deferred income and amortised in the Group income
statement by instalments on a basis consistent with the
depreciation policy of the relevant assets.

Other grants are credited to the income statement to offset the
matching expenditure.

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a
past event and it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is
material, provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and, where
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
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Notes to the Group financial statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

1 Segment information

(a) Analysis by business segment

(i) Segment revenue and result FOOD FOOD TOTAL 

EUROPE NORTH AMERICA AGRI ELIMINATIONS * GROUP

2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

€’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Segment revenue 836,278 739,350 191,972 152,707 581,955 563,004 (52,900) (46,887) 1,557,305 1,408,174

Operating profit before

exceptional items 71,190 63,052 16,631 12,734 23,994 22,762 - - 111,815 98,548

Exceptional items - - (228) - 1,575 8,627 - - 1,347 8,627

Operating profit before

amortisation of intangible assets 71,190 63,052 16,403 12,734 25,569 31,389 - - 113,162 107,175

Amortisation of intangible assets (6,612) (4,429) (264) (27) (224) (168) - - (7,100) (4,624)

Operating profit 64,578 58,623 16,139 12,707 25,345 31,221 - - 106,062 102,551

Share of profit of associates

and joint venture 9,155 6,800 14,793 12,598 1,705 2,122 - - 25,653 21,520

Profit before financing costs 73,733 65,423 30,932 25,305 27,050 33,343 - - 131,715 124,071

*  The eliminations detailed above consist of the joint venture revenues within the Food North America business. 
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Notes (continued)

1 Segment information (continued)

(a) Analysis by business segment (continued) FOOD FOOD TOTAL 

EUROPE NORTH AMERICA AGRI GROUP

2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

(ii) Segment assets €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Segment assets excluding  investments in 

associates and joint venture 567,000 552,341 170,678 159,419 199,451 173,659 937,129 885,419

Investments in associates and joint venture 85,463 40,463 65,577 65,753 8,181 9,871 159,221 116,087

Segment assets 652,463 592,804 236,255 225,172 207,632 183,530 1,096,350 1,001,506

Reconciliation to total assets as 

reported in Group balance sheet

Listed investments 203 242

Derivative financial instruments 1,532 -

Cash and cash equivalents 74,556 47,687

Income tax and deferred tax assets 8,474 15,029

Total assets as reported in

Group balance sheet 1,181,115 1,064,464

(iii) Segment liabilities 

Segment liabilities 208,455 215,083 23,565 23,421 112,797 112,237 344,817 350,741

Reconciliation to total liabilities as reported

in Group balance sheet

Interest bearing loans and liabilities 291,081 267,556

Derivative financial instruments 747 -

Income tax and deferred tax liabilities 63,734 62,812

Total liabilities as reported in the Group

balance sheet 700,379 681,109

(iv) Other segment information

Depreciation 15,846 12,537 5,532 4,812 6,253 6,583 27,631 23,932

Capital expenditure – property, plant

and equipment 18,041 45,924 27,006 17,306 8,545 8,225 53,592 71,455

Capital expenditure – computer related

intangibles 4,586 3,145 - 281 108 415 4,694 3,841

Capital expenditure – brand related intangibles - - - - 782 - 782 -

Total capital expenditure 22,627 49,069 27,006 17,587 9,435 8,640 59,068 75,296
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1 Segment information (continued)

(b) Analysis by geographical segment

EUROPE NORTH AMERICA TOTAL GROUP

2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
€’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

Segment revenue 1,418,233 1,302,354 139,072 105,820 1,557,305 1,408,174
Segment assets 860,095 776,334 236,255 225,172 1,096,350 1,001,506
Capital expenditure 32,062 57,709 27,006 17,587 59,068 75,296

2 Operating costs 2006 2005
€’000 €’000

Distribution expenses 152,029 117,132
Administration expenses 89,808 82,694
Other operating income (585) (706)
Exceptional items (1,347) (8,627)

239,905 190,493

Other operating income and exceptional items comprise the following credits/(charges):

Other operating income:
Capital grants released to income statement 354 438
Other 231 268

585 706
Exceptional items:
Profit on disposal of operations (i) - 10,001
Loss on termination of operations (ii) (572) (1,374)
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (iii) 1,304 -
Profit on disposal of other investments (iv) 615 -

1,347 8,627
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Notes (continued)

2 Operating costs (continued)

(i) Profit on disposal of operations

In 2005, the profit on disposal of operations represented the profit on the early termination of an agreement with Irish
Agricultural Wholesale Society Limited in respect of the disposal of two businesses in the Agri business.

(ii) Loss on termination of operations

In 2006, the loss on termination of operations consists primarily of the loss on the disposal of Premier Petfoods Limited,
an Irish based company engaged in the distribution of pet foods.  

In 2005, the loss on termination of operations represented the costs of closing two operations within the Agri business.

(iii) Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 

In 2006, the profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment relates to gains arising on the sale of properties. One of the
Group’s Agri businesses disposed of property located in Co. Waterford and the Food North America business disposed of a
property located in Chicago.

(iv) Profit on disposal of other investments

The profit on disposal of other investments relates to the sale of investments. 

3 Financing costs 2006 2005
€’000 €’000

Financing income
Interest income (387) (117)
Defined benefit pension obligations: expected return on scheme assets (4,577) (3,701)

Total financing (income) (4,964) (3,818)

Financing costs
Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts 13,407 11,143
Interest payable under finance leases 460 158
Defined benefit pension obligations: interest cost on scheme liabilities 4,282 4,150
Financing charge on deferred consideration 744 667

Total financing costs 18,893 16,118

Financing costs, net 13,929 12,300
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Notes (continued)

4 Statutory and other information

Group operating profit was arrived at after charging/(crediting) the following amounts: 2006 2005
€’000 €’000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
- owned assets 27,072 23,452
- leased assets 559 480

Amortisation of intangible assets 7,100 4,624
Amortisation of government grants (354) (438)

Operating lease rentals
- plant and machinery 1,526 776
- other 12,849 11,627

Research and development expenditure 5,900 4,783
Auditor’s remuneration for audit services 974 855
Auditor’s remuneration for non-audit services 1,197 360

5 Directors’ emoluments and interests

Directors’ emoluments and interests are given in the Report on directors’ remuneration on pages 39 to 43 inclusive in this Annual
Report.  
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Notes (continued)

6 Group share of associates and joint venture profit after tax 

Associates Joint Venture

2006 2005 2006 2005
€’000 €'000 €’000 €'000

Group share of:
Revenue 203,030 183,395 52,900 46,887

Profit after tax 10,860 8,922 14,793 12,598

7 Employment

The average number of persons employed by the Group during the year was as follows: 2006 2005

Sales and distribution 1,702 1,557
Production 1,504 1,443
Management and administration 588 515

3,794 3,515

2006 2005
Aggregate employment costs of the Group are analysed as follows: €’ 000 €'000

Wages and salaries 133,252 116,515
Social welfare costs 21,783 18,452
Pension costs
- defined benefit schemes – statement of recognised income and expense (4,811) 7,454
- defined benefit schemes – income statement 1,796 2,021
- defined contribution schemes 2,228 946
Share based payment 1,550 867

155,798 146,255
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Notes (continued)

8 Share based payments

The Group grants share options under one share option plan, the “1997 Share Option Scheme”. Options granted under the scheme
are exercisable only when certain earnings per share growth targets are met over a specified 3 or 5 year period.

The Group’s employee share options are equity-settled share-based payments as defined in IFRS 2, Share-based Payment. The IFRS
requires that a recognised valuation methodology be employed to determine the fair value of share options granted and stipulates
that this methodology should be consistent with methodologies used for the pricing of financial instruments. The expense reported
in the Group income statement of €1,550,000 (2005: €867,000) has been arrived at through applying a recognised binomial
valuation model.

The general terms and conditions applicable to the share options granted by IAWS Group, plc under the 1997 share option scheme
are addressed in the Report on directors’ remuneration on page 39 and in this note.

Impact on income statement

In line with the transitional provisions applicable to a first-time adopter of International Financial Reporting Standards, as contained
in IFRS 1 and IFRS 2, the Group has elected to implement the measurement requirements of IFRS 2, in respect of share options that
were granted after 7 November 2002 that had not vested as at the effective date of the standard (1 August 2005). As a result of
these provisions, the expense disclosed in the Group income statement relates to options granted in November 2003 and
subsequent years.

2006 2005
€’000 €’000

Granted in FY 2004 867 867
Granted in FY 2005 - -
Granted in FY 2006 683 -

1,550 867

Details of options granted under the share option scheme 2006 2005
Weighted 2006 Weighted 2005
exercise Number of exercise Number of

price € options price € options

Options outstanding at beginning of year 7.40 4,314,000 7.19 5,299,500
Granted during the year (a) 14.16 2,692,500 - -
Lapsed during the year 7.96 (136,000) 7.73 (6,000)
Exercised during the year 6.67 (1,283,000) 6.25 (979,500)

Options outstanding at end of year 10.82 5,587,500 7.40 4,314,000

Exercisable at end of year 6.93 1,874,500 5.43 1,334,500

The weighted average share price on the date options were exercised during the year was €12.97.

(a) Pursuant to the share option scheme, employees were granted options over a total of 2,692,500 (2005: Nil) of the Company’s
ordinary shares on 21 April 2006 and 19 October 2005.  These grants comprised options over 1,320,000 (2005: Nil) shares and
1,372,500 (2005: Nil) shares which may be exercised after the expiration of three and five years respectively from the dates of
grant of those options subject to specified EPS growth targets being achieved.  All options granted have a life of ten years.
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Notes (continued)

8 Share based payments (continued)

Analysis of closing balance – outstanding at the end of the year Actual Actual
Number remaining Number remaining

Exercise of options life (years) of options life (years)
price 2006 2006 2005 2005

Options by exercise price €1.60 - - 15,000 0.38
€2.92 70,000 0.75 110,000 1.75
€3.20 85,000 1.26 120,000 2.26
€2.10 106,500 2.18 164,000 3.18
€4.70 5,000 3.24 15,500 4.24
€6.70 440,000 3.72 905,000 4.72
€7.50 277,000 4.25 747,000 5.25
€7.60 - 4.64 230,000 5.64
€7.40 100,000 4.66 100,000 5.66
€7.95 627,000 5.25 685,000 6.25
€9.20 164,000 5.71 180,000 6.71
€9.15 1,020,500 7.26 1,042,500 8.26

€11.65 195,000 9.22 - -
€14.36 2,497,500 9.72 - -            

Total outstanding as at 31 July 5,587,500 4,314,000

Analysis of closing balance – exercisable at end of year Actual Actual
Number remaining Number remaining

Exercise of options life (years) of options life (years)
price 2006 2006 2005 2005

Options by exercise price €1.60 - - 15,000 -
€2.92 70,000 0.75 110,000 1.75
€3.20 85,000 1.26 120,000 2.26
€2.10 106,500 2.18 164,000 3.18
€4.70 5,000 3.24 15,500 4.24
€6.70 440,000 3.72 905,000 4.72
€7.50 277,000 4.25 - 5.25
€7.60 - 4.64 - 5.64
€7.40 100,000 4.66 - 5.66
€7.95 627,000 5.25 5,000 6.25
€9.20 164,000 5.71 - -

Total exercisable as at 31 July 1,874,500 1,334,500

The weighted average fair values assigned to options granted under the share option scheme, which were computed in accordance
with a binomial valuation methodology, were as follows:

3 year 5 year

€ €

Granted in FY 2004 2.49 -
Granted in FY 2005 - -
Granted in FY 2006 2.66 3.69
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8 Share based payments (continued)

The fair values of options granted under the share option scheme were determined using the following assumptions:

FY 2006 FY 2005 FY 2004

3 Year 5 Year 3 Year 5 Year 3 Year 5 Year

Weighted average exercise price (€) 13.96 14.36 - - 9.15 -
Risk-free interest rate (%) 3.58 3.82 - - 2.00 -
Expected dividend payments over the expected life (%) 1.00 1.00 - - 1.00 -
Expected volatility (%) 17.44 20.80 - - 27.00 -
Expected life in years 5 7 - - 7 -

The expected volatility was determined using the IAWS Group, plc month-end share prices in respect of the three year period
preceding the grant of the share options. Share options are granted at market value at the date of grant. The expected life of the
options is the average period from the date of grant to the date of exercise.

Other than the assumptions listed above, no other features of option grants were factored into the determination of fair value.

There were no modifications effected to the share option scheme during the course of 2006 and 2005.

9 Income tax 2006 2005
€’000 €'000

Current tax:
Republic of Ireland:
Corporation tax on profits for the year at 12.5% (2005: 12.5%) 5,848 8,200
Less: manufacturing relief (617) (562)
Adjustments in respect of prior years 112 140
Double taxation relief (149) (855)

5,194 6,923
Overseas:
Current tax on profit for the year 9,683 8,148
Adjustments in respect of prior years (381) (585)

9,302 7,563

Total current tax charge 14,496 14,486

Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of timing differences 4,368 1,801
Adjustments in respect of prior years (207) 848

Total deferred tax charge 4,161 2,649

Income tax expense 18,657 17,135
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Notes (continued)

9 Income tax (continued)

Reconciliation of average effective tax rate to applicable tax rate 2006 2005
€’000 €’000

Profit before tax 117,786 111,771
Less share of profit of associates and joint venture (25,653) (21,520)

92,133 90,251

Taxation based on Irish corporate rate of 12.5% 11,517 11,281
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,502 911
Higher rates of tax on other income 1,146 848
Higher rates of tax on overseas earnings 5,692 3,895
Adjustments to prior years (476) 403
Manufacturing relief (617) (562)
Utilisation of losses forward (255) (449)
Other items 148 808

18,657 17,135

Movement on deferred tax asset/(liability) recognised directly in equity

Relating to Group employee benefit schemes (469) 1,063
Derivative financial instruments (40) -

(509) 1,063

10 Dividends

Dividends paid 2006 2005
€’000 €’000

2006 interim dividend of 6.710 cent per ordinary share, paid on 21 April 2006 8,441 -
2005 interim dividend of 5.835 cent per ordinary share, paid on 22 April 2005 - 7,308
2005 final dividend of 6.052 cent per ordinary share, paid on 3 February 2006 7,595 -
2004 final dividend of 5.442 cent per ordinary share, paid on 31 January 2005 - 6,744   

Total dividends paid to equity shareholders 16,036 14,052

Proposed dividends

It is proposed that a final dividend of 6.780 cent (2005: 6.052 cent) per ordinary share will be paid to ordinary shareholders after
the balance sheet date. These proposed dividends have not been provided for in the Group balance sheet. The final dividend is
subject to approval by the Group’s shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.
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11 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 July 2006 was based on the profit for the financial year attributable
to ordinary shareholders of €98,798,000 (2005: €94,360,000) and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the year of 125,568,177 (2005: 124,380,841) calculated as follows:

2006 2005
€’000 €’000

Profit for financial year attributable to equity shareholders 98,798 94,360

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

’000 ’000
Issued ordinary shares at 1 August 124,905 123,925
Effect of shares issued during the year 663 456

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the year 125,568 124,381

Basic earnings per share 78.68 cent 75.86 cent

Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share at 31 July 2006 was based on profit for the financial year attributable to ordinary
shareholders of €98,798,000 (2005: €94,360,000) and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
year ended 31 July 2006 of 127,037,055 (2005: 126,026,106) calculated as follows:

2006 2005
€’000 €’000

Profit for financial year attributable to equity shareholders 98,798 94,360

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) 

‘000 ‘000
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in basic calculation 125,568 124,381
Effect of share options with a dilutive effect  1,469 1,645

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) for the year 127,037 126,026

Diluted earnings per share 77.77 cent 74.87 cent
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Notes (continued)

11 Earnings per share (continued)

Adjusted basic earnings per share 2006 2005
’000 ’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic) at 31 July 125,568 124,381

2006 2005
2006 Per share 2005 Per share

€’000 € cent €’000 € cent

Profit for the financial year 98,798 78.68 94,360 75.86

Adjustments:
Amortisation of intangible assets 7,100 5.65 4,624 3.72
Amortisation of related  deferred tax liability (1,749) (1.39) (1,117) (0.90)
Exceptional items, net of tax (490) (0.39) (7,264) (5.84)

Adjusted basic earnings per share 103,659 82.55 90,603 72.84

Adjusted fully diluted earnings per share 2006 2005
’000 ’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) at 31 July 127,037 126,026

2006 2005
2006 Per share 2005 Per share

€’000 € cent €’000 € cent

Profit for the financial year 98,798 77.77 94,360 74.87

Adjustments:
Amortisation of intangible assets 7,100 5.59 4,624 3.67
Amortisation of related deferred tax liability (1,749) (1.38) (1,117) (0.89)
Exceptional items, net of tax (490) (0.38) (7,264) (5.76)

Adjusted fully diluted earnings per share 103,659 81.60 90,603 71.89
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12 Property, plant and equipment Land and Plant and Motor

buildings machinery vehicles Total

31 July 2006 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Cost
At 1 August 2005 180,718 261,653 5,046 447,417
Additions 1,261 51,924 407 53,592
Arising on acquisition 622 12 - 634
Disposals (4,506) (9,022) (2,040) (15,568)
Translation adjustments (21) (2,525) 11 (2,535)

At 31 July 2006 178,074 302,042 3,424 483,540

Accumulated depreciation 
At 1 August 2005 27,617 128,436 3,786 159,839
Depreciation charge for year 4,203 22,889 539 27,631
Disposals (1,931) (8,364) (1,829) (12,124)
Translation adjustments (55) (151) 12 (194)

At 31 July 2006 29,834 142,810 2,508 175,152

Net book amounts
At 31 July 2006 148,240 159,232 916 308,388

At 31 July 2005 153,101 133,217 1,260 287,578

31 July 2005

Cost
At 1 August 2004 152,031 239,232 9,025 400,288
Additions 25,090 45,865 500 71,455
Arising on acquisition 8,592 811 - 9,403
Disposals (3,166) (20,813) (4,326) (28,305)
Translation adjustments (1,829) (3,442) (153) (5,424)

At 31 July 2005 180,718 261,653 5,046 447,417

Accumulated depreciation 
At 1 August 2004 25,315 125,051 7,152 157,518
Depreciation charge for year 3,540 19,493 899 23,932
Disposals (1,014) (14,276) (4,140) (19,430)
Translation adjustments (224) (1,832) (125) (2,181)

At 31 July 2005 27,617 128,436 3,786 159,839

Net book amounts
At 31 July 2005 153,101 133,217 1,260 287,578

At 31 July 2004 126,716 114,181 1,873 242,770
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Notes (continued)

12 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Assets held under finance leases
The net book value in respect of assets held under finance leases and accordingly capitalised in property, plant and equipment is as
follows:  

Land and Plant and Motor

buildings machinery vehicles Total

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

At 31 July 2006 5,001 141 - 5,142

At 31 July 2005 25,300 354 - 25,654

During the year, the Group discharged €19,956,000 of obligations under finance leases relating to land and buildings purchased in
2005. 

Future purchase commitments at 31 July 2006 for property, plant and equipment 2006 2005
€’000 €’000

Contracted but not provided for in the financial statements 3,420 30,639
Authorised by the directors but not contracted for 3,200 9,347

Total 6,620 39,986

Subsequent to the year-end the directors authorised a capital expenditure project at Grangecastle in Dublin, which is expected to
result in approximately €180m of spend over a three year period.

13 Goodwill and intangible assets Intangible assets 

Customer Computer

31 July 2006 Goodwill related Brand related Total

€’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’ 000

Cost
At 1 August 2005 264,526 26,585 47,447 13,536 352,094
Arising on acquisition 1,862 - - - 1,862
Additions - - 782 4,694 5,476
Disposals - - - (48) (48)
Revision to deferred consideration 124 - - - 124
Translation adjustments (2,306) - - (32) (2,338)

At 31 July 2006 264,206 26,585 48,229 18,150 357,170

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 August 2005 5,513 1,414 2,623 6,516 16,066
Amortisation - 2,215 3,136 1,749 7,100
Disposals - - - (29) (29)
Translation adjustments (42) - - 51 9

At 31 July 2006 5,471 3,629 5,759 8,287 23,146

Net book amounts
At 31 July 2006 258,735 22,956 42,470 9,863 334,024

At 31 July 2005 259,013 25,171 44,824 7,020 336,028
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13 Goodwill and intangible assets (continued) Intangible assets 

Customer Computer

31 July 2005 Goodwill related Brand related Total

€’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’ 000

Cost
At 1 August 2004 184,015 - 5,710 9,723 199,448
Arising on acquisition 87,931 26,585 41,737 - 156,253
Additions - - - 3,841 3,841
Revision to deferred consideration (5,216) - - - (5,216)
Translation adjustments (2,204) - - (28) (2,232)

At 31 July 2005 264,526 26,585 47,447 13,536 352,094

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 August 2004 5,623 - 571 5,358 11,552
Amortisation - 1,414 2,052 1,158 4,624
Translation adjustments (110) - - - (110)

At 31 July 2005 5,513 1,414 2,623 6,516 16,066

Net book amounts
At 31 July 2005 259,013 25,171 44,824 7,020 336,028

At 31 July 2004 178,392 - 5,139 4,365 187,896

The useful lives of all intangible assets are finite and range from 5 to 20 years dependent on the nature of the asset.

Impairment testing of goodwill

No impairment losses have been recognised by the Group in respect of goodwill in either financial year or as at the transition date
to IFRS (1 August 2004).

The recoverable amounts of cash generating units are based on value in use calculations. Those calculations use cash flow
projections based on expected future operating results and cash flows. The cash flow projections are based on current operating
results of the individual cash generating units and a conservative assumption regarding future organic growth. For the purposes of
the calculation of value in use, the cash flows are projected over a 5 year period with additional cash flows in subsequent years
calculated using a terminal value methodology, unless a shorter period is appropriate to the circumstances of a particular cash
generating unit. The cash flows are discounted using appropriate risk adjusted discount rates averaging 3.9% (2005: 3.8%),
reflecting the risk associated with the individual future cash flows and the risk free rate. Included in investment in associates and
joint venture is goodwill with a carrying amount of €44,657,000 (2005: €20,539,000). This goodwill is subject to annual
impairment testing on a similar basis to the goodwill arising in the Group’s subsidiaries. Any adverse change in the expected future
operational results and cash flows may result in the value in use being less that the carrying value of a business unit and would
require that the carrying value of the business unit be impaired and stated at the greater of the value in use or the recoverable
amount of the business unit. 

Key assumptions include management’s estimates of future profitability, replacement capital expenditure requirements, trade
working capital investment needs and tax considerations. The term of the discounted cashflow model is a significant factor in
determining the fair value of the cash-generating units. The term has been arrived at taking account of the Group’s strong financial
position, its established history of earnings growth and cash flow generation and its proven ability to pursue and integrate value
enhancing acquisitions.
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Notes (continued)

13 Goodwill and intangible assets (continued)

The carrying amount of goodwill is made up primarily of goodwill attributed to cash generating units within the Food Europe and
Food North America businesses. Goodwill of €89.8 million has been allocated to Groupe Hubert, a cash generating unit within the
Food Europe business and goodwill of €58 million has been allocated to La Brea Bakeries, a cash generating unit within the Food
North America business. 

14 Investments in associates and joint venture

31 July 2006 Associates         Joint venture     

Share of Share of

net assets Goodwill net assets Goodwill Total

€’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

At 1 August 2005 36,052 14,282 59,496 6,257 116,087
Investments 10,513 24,548 - - 35,061
Share of profits after tax 10,860 - 14,793 - 25,653
Dividends received (2,451) - (16,667) - (19,118)
Gains/(losses) recognised directly through equity 524 - (21) - 503
Translation adjustments (58) (626) 1,523 196 1,035

At 31 July 2006 55,440 38,204 59,124 6,453 159,221

31 July 2005

At 1 August 2004 34,267 13,024 57,177 5,833 110,301
Investments - 1,419 942 - 2,361
Share of profits after tax 8,922 - 12,598 - 21,520
Losses recognised directly through equity (2,721) - - - (2,721)
Dividends received (4,461) - (16,162) - (20,623)
Translation adjustments 45 (161) 4,941 424 5,249

At 31 July 2005 36,052 14,282 59,496 6,257 116,087

The amounts included in these financial statements in respect of the income and expenses of associates and joint venture are taken
from their latest financial statements prepared up to their respective year ends together with management accounts for the
intervening periods to the Group’s year end. Hiestand Holding AG, included within associates, and the joint venture, Cillryan’s Bakery
Limited, have year ends of 31 December.

The share price of Hiestand Holding AG which is accounted for using the equity method of accounting was €833 per share at 31 July
2006.
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14 Investments in associates and joint venture (continued)

The investment in associates and joint venture (including goodwill) is analysed as follows:

31 July 2006 Associates Joint venture Total

€’000 €’000 €’000

Non-current assets 46,555 48,471 95,026
Current assets 53,736 19,564 73,300
Non-current liabilities (23,957) (4,701) (28,658)
Current liabilities (20,894) (4,210) (25,104)

Net assets 55,440 59,124 114,564

Goodwill 38,204 6,453 44,657

93,644 65,577 159,221

31 July 2005 Associates Joint venture Total

€’000 €’000 €’000

Non-current assets 34,279 49,706 83,985
Current assets 45,088 17,045 62,133
Non-current liabilities (32,208) (2,913) (35,121)
Current liabilities (11,107) (4,342) (15,449)

Net assets 36,052 59,496 95,548

Goodwill 14,282 6,257 20,539

50,334 65,753 116,087

15 Other investments 2006 2005
€’000 €’000

Balance at 1 August 242 245
Disposal (40) -
Translation adjustment 1 (3)

Balance at 31 July 203 242

16 Inventory 2006 2005
€’000 €’000

Raw materials 12,035 13,994
Finished goods 73,020 69,629
Consumable stores 3,484 4,676

Total inventory at the lower of cost and net realisable value 88,539 88,299
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Notes (continued)

17 Trade and other receivables 2006 2005
€’000 €'000

Trade receivables 160,767 135,220
Trade receivables due from associates 1,149 229
Value added tax 5,451 5,469
Other receivables 38,811 32,596

206,178 173,514

A total expense of €556,000 (2005: €504,000) was recognised in the income statement arising from impairment on trade
receivables.

18 Trade and other payables 2006 2005
€’000 €'000

Non-current

Other payables 345 450

Current

Trade payables 159,280 139,924
Trade payables due to associates and joint venture 975 860
Accruals and other payables 133,073 125,913
Income tax and social welfare 3,090 3,788
Value added tax 3,152 2,980

299,570 273,465

Non-current payables are due entirely with five years.

19 Provisions 2006 2005
€’000 €'000

Non-current

Deferred consideration and acquisition costs 30,360 31,950

Current

Deferred consideration and acquisition costs 2,660 4,665

Provisions comprise the net present value of the amounts expected to be payable in respect of deferred consideration. The decrease
during the year in this liability includes the impact of revisions to previous estimates in respect of previous transactions, payments,
currency movements and the discounting charge. Deferred consideration amounts are due entirely within five years. Total payments
of deferred consideration during the year amounted to €3,988,000 (2005: €6,788,000).
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20 Cash and cash equivalents

In accordance with IAS 7, Cash Flow Statements, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances held for the purposes of
meeting short-term cash commitments and investments which are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Where investments are categorised as cash equivalents, the related balances have a
maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition. Bank overdrafts are included within current interest bearing
borrowings in the Group balance sheet.

2006 2005
€’000 €'000

Cash at bank and in hand 74,556 46,800
Investments (short-term deposits) - 887

Included in the Group balance sheet 74,556 47,687
Bank overdrafts (4,758) (4,268)

Included in the Group cash flow statement 69,798 43,419

Cash at bank and in hand earns interest at floating rates based on daily deposit bank rates. Short-term deposits are made for
varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn
interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.

21 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

The Group policy is to fix a substantial proportion of the Group's medium to long term exposure to foreign currencies. To achieve this
objective, the Group enters into interest rate swaps with a view to changing interest receivable or payable on the Group's underlying
cash and borrowings from variable to fixed rates. The Group policy is to maintain between 40% and 70% of overall Group average
annual borrowings at fixed rates of interest, through the use of interest rate swaps.

2006 2005
Interest bearing loans and borrowings were as follows at 31 July: €’000 €'000

Bank loans and overdrafts 288,131 244,153
Finance leases 2,950 23,403

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 291,081 267,556

Included in current liabilities in the Group balance sheet
Loans repayable within one year - 5,659
Bank overdrafts 4,758 4,268
Finance leases 378 20,074

Current interest-bearing loans and borrowings 5,136 30,001

Non-current interest-bearing loans and borrowings 285,945 237,555

There is no significant difference between the book values and fair values of interest bearing loans and borrowings.

Guarantees
All Group borrowings are secured by guarantees from IAWS Group, plc and cross guarantees from various companies within the
Group. The Group treats these guarantees as insurance contracts and accounts for them as such.
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21 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (continued) 2006 2005
€’000 €'000

Repayment schedule – loans and overdrafts
Within one year 4,758 9,927
Between one and two years 842 510
Between two and three years - -
Between three and four years - -
Between four and five years 282,531 233,716
After five years - -

Loans and overdrafts 288,131 244,153

Repayment schedule – finance leases
Within one year 378 20,074
Between one and two years 376 417
Between two and three years 398 446
Between three and four years 421 468
Between four and five years 445 500
After five years 932 1,498

Finance leases 2,950 23,403

Borrowing facilities
Various borrowing facilities are available to the Group. The undrawn committed facilities available as at 31 July 2006 and 31 July
2005, in respect of which all conditions precedent had been met, expire as follows:

Within one year - -
Between one and two years - -
Between two and five years 152,469 141,284
After five years - -

152,469 141,284
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21 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (continued)

Currency profile of interest bearing loans and borrowings
All of the Group’s interest bearing loans are borrowed by a Group company which is based in Ireland and whose functional currency
is euro. The carrying amounts of the Group’s total interest bearing loans and borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

2006 2005
€’000 €’000

Euro 87,305 55,866
Sterling 25,068 54,826
US dollar 94,697 92,846
CAD dollar 24,396 39,384
Swiss franc 59,615 24,634

291,081 267,556

All debt bears floating rate interest per the original contract. Certain floating rate debt has been hedged into fixed rate debt through
the use of interest rate swaps as identified below:

Impact of

derivative

Floating rate financial Fixed rate

debt instruments debt

€’000 €’000 €’000

Hedged interest bearing liabilities denominated in:
Euro 50,000 (688) 49,312
Sterling 24,927 (4) 24,923
US dollar 33,095 (742) 32,353
CAD dollar 13,889 (98) 13,791

121,911 (1,532) 120,379

Unhedged interest bearing liabilities
Bank overdrafts 4,758
Finance leases 2,950
Interest bearing loans 161,462                  

Interest bearing liabilities 291,081
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Notes (continued)

22 Derivative and other financial instruments

As set out above, in accordance with the first time adoption exemptions in IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International
Financial Reporting Standards, the Group did not apply IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation and Disclosure
nor IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement to the 2005 comparatives. These standards have
been applied from 1 August 2005. The impact of adoption of these standards on 1 August 2005 is reflected in the
Statement of recognised income and expense. The first part of this note sets out the disclosures in accordance
with IAS 32 and IAS 39 for the financial year ended 31 July 2006. The later part of the note sets out the disclosures
required in accordance with Irish GAAP for the financial year ended 31 July 2005.

(a) Disclosures in accordance with IAS 32 and IAS 39 for 2006

Risk exposures

The Group’s multinational operations expose it to different financial risks that include foreign exchange rate risks,
credit risks, liquidity risks, commodity price risks and interest rate risks. The Group has a risk management
programme in place which seeks to limit the impact of these risks on the financial performance of the Group.
The Board has determined the policies for managing these risks. It is the policy of the Board to manage these
risks in a non-speculative manner.

Foreign exchange risk
In addition to the Group’s operations carried out in euro-zone economies, it also has significant operations in the
UK and North America. As a result the Group balance sheet is exposed to currency fluctuations including, in
particular, Sterling and US Dollar movements. The Group manages its balance sheet having regard to the currency
exposures arising from its assets being denominated in a wide range of currencies. To this end, where foreign
currency assets are funded by borrowing, such borrowing is generally sourced in the currency of the related
assets. The Group also hedges a portion of its currency exposure through the use of currency swaps.
Transactional exposures arise from sales or purchases by an operating unit in currencies other than the unit's
functional currency. The Group requires all its operating units to use forward currency contracts to eliminate the
currency exposures on certain foreign currency purchases. The forward currency contracts must be in the same
currency as the hedged item.

Credit risk
The Group has detailed procedures for monitoring and managing the credit risk related to its trade receivables.

Liquidity risk
The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between flexibility and continuity of funding. The Group's policy is
that not more than 40% of bank borrowings should mature in any twelve month period. 98% of the Group's total
borrowings at the year end will mature between two and five years.

Short-term flexibility is achieved through the availability of overdraft facilities totalling €73 million. The Group
has a syndicated loan facility totalling €500 million.

Commodity price risk
The Group trades in certain commodities for its own use and uses derivative contracts to protect itself from
movements in price other than exchange differences. 

Interest rate risk
All debt bears floating rate interest per the original contract. The Group’s policy is to maintain between 40%
and 70% of overall Group average annual borrowings at fixed rates of interest via interest rate swaps. 
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22 Derivative and other financial instruments (continued)

(a) Disclosures in accordance with IAS 32 and IAS 39 for 2006 (continued)

Accounting for derivatives and hedging activities 

The fair value of derivative financial assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date is set out in the following table: 

Assets Liabilities 

€'000 €’000

Cash flow hedges
Currency forward contracts - 647
Interest rate swaps 1,532 -

Not designated as hedges - 100

1,532 747

Cash flow hedges
Cash flow hedges are those of highly probable forecasted future income or expenses. In order to qualify for hedge accounting,
the Group is required to document the relationship between the item being hedged and the hedging instrument and
demonstrate, at inception, that the hedge relationship will be highly effective on an ongoing basis. The hedge relationship must
be tested for effectiveness on subsequent reporting dates.

Not designated as hedges
The Group is happy to maintain its continuing association and involvement with the Co-Founder of Cuisine de France, Ronan
McNamee. Since the acquisition of Cuisine de France, Mr. McNamee has been of considerable assistance to the Group in relation
to a number of key projects, including the Group’s major expansion into the North American market.  During the current financial
year, Ronan McNamee has agreed to assist the Group in maximizing the value of its existing facilities and lands at Tallaght, and
for this purpose the Group has entered into an option agreement with Mr. McNamee under which he has been granted the option
to take ownership of a Group subsidiary which currently owns the facilities and land. The option cannot be exercised before the
year ending 31 July 2009. If the option is exercised, the amount paid to acquire the subsidiary will equate to €48 million plus
50% of the increase in the market value of the land at the date of exercise. As at 31 July 2006, the fair value of the option is not
significantly different from its carrying amount.

Effective interest rates and contractual repricing analysis

In respect of interest bearing liabilities, the following table sets out the effective interest rates at 31 July 2006:

Carrying Effective

amount interest 

€'000 rate %

Interest bearing borrowings 283,373 3.85
Bank overdrafts 4,758 4.07
Finance lease liabilities 2,950 5.20

291,081 3.87

There are no significant differences between the book values and fair values of other financial assets or liabilities. 
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Notes (continued)

22 Derivative and other financial instruments (continued)

(b) Disclosures in accordance with Irish GAAP for 2005

Interest rate profile of financial liabilities

The interest rate profile of the Group as at 31 July 2005 was as follows:
Weighted Weighted

Fixed Floating average average

Foreign rate rate fixed period

Euro currency financial financial interest of fixed

amount amount liability liability rate interest

'000 '000 '000 '000 % (years)

Currency
Euro 55,866 55,866 54,983 883 3.37 2.5
Sterling 54,826 37,804 22,789 15,015 5.24 1.0
US dollar 92,846 112,343 50,045 62,298 3.32 1.2
CAD  dollar 39,384 58,486 20,000 38,486 3.92 2.0
Swiss franc 24,634 38,435 - 38,435 - -

All of the Group’s interest bearing loans are borrowed by a Group company which is based in Ireland and whose functional
currency is the euro.

The floating rate financial liabilities comprise bank borrowings bearing interest at rates fixed in advance for periods ranging from
overnight to one year by reference to the relevant Euribor and Libor rates.

During the year, fixed rate borrowings as a proportion of total borrowings remained within the Group policy limits.

Interest rate profile of financial assets

The interest rate profile of financial assets of the Group as at 31 July 2005 was as follows:

Fixed rate financial Floating rate financial

Euro assets (foreign assets (foreign

amount currency amount) currency amount)

'000 ‘000 '000

Currency
Euro 25,029 887 24,142
Sterling 13,376 - 9,223
US dollar 9,199 - 11,131
Swiss franc 81 - 127
CAD dollar 2 - 3

Fixed and floating rate financial assets are predominantly comprised of cash deposits and other interest earning credit
balances. The weighted average fixed rate on cash deposits was 2.48% at the year-end.
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22 Derivative and other financial instruments (continued)

(b) Disclosures in accordance with Irish GAAP for 2005 (continued)

Maturity profile financial assets and liabilities

Set out below are the book values of the Group's financial assets and liabilities and the maturity profile of these
as at 31 July 2005.

Book value

2005

€'000

Primary financial instruments
Borrowings repayable within one year 9,927
Borrowings repayable between one and two years 510
Borrowings repayable between two and five years 233,716
Finance leases repayable within one year 20,074
Finance leases repayable between one and two years 417
Finance leases repayable between two and five years 2,912

267,556

Cash and short-term deposits 47,687

Hedging activities

The Group enters into forward foreign exchange contracts to manage the currency exposures that arise on purchases and sales
denominated in non-base currencies. The Group also uses interest rate swaps to manage its interest rate profile. Changes in the
fair value of instruments used as hedges are not recognised in the financial statements until the hedged position matures. The
mark to market value of year-end forward contracts results in unrecognised profits of €230,000. These profits will be
recognised in 2006 when the contracts mature. The mark to market value of year end interest rate swaps results in an
unrecognised profit of €481,000.

There are no significant differences between the book values and fair values of other financial assets or liabilities.
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23 Government grants 2006 2005
€’000 €'000

At 1 August 3,359 4,429
Received - 28
Eliminated on disposal - (656)
Translation adjustment 1 (4)

3,360 3,797
Released to Group income statement (354) (438)

At 31 July 3,006 3,359

24 Deferred tax

The deductible and taxable temporary differences at the balance sheet date in respect of which deferred tax has been recognised
are analysed as follows:

2006 2005
€’000 €'000

Deferred tax assets (deductible temporary differences)
Pension related 1,844 4,868
Financing related 678 1,140
Property, plant and equipment 569 787
Employee compensation 2,815 2,731
Other deductible temporary differences 2,568 5,503

Total 8,474 15,029

Deferred tax liabilities (taxable temporary differences)
Property, plant and equipment 27,319 28,251
Intangible assets 22,362 23,451
Financing related 128 83
Other 93 -

Total 49,902 51,785
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24 Deferred tax (continued)

Movement in temporary differences, during the year, were as follows:

2006 Property, plant & Intangible Employee Pension Financing

equipment assets compensation related related Other Total

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

At 1 August (27,464) (23,451) 2,731 4,868 1,057 5,503 (36,756)
Recognised in Group

income statement 646 1,042 90 (2,545) (377) (3,017) (4,161)
Recognised in Group

statement of recognised
income and expense - - - (469) (129) - (598)

Foreign exchange and other 68 47 (6) (10) (1) (11) 87

At 31 July (26,750) (22,362) 2,815 1,844 550 2,475 (41,428)

2005 Property, plant & Intangible Employee Pension Financing

equipment assets compensation related related Other Total

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

At 1 August (5,651) - 2,093 - 1,845 (9,955) (11,668)
Recognised in Group  

income statement (21,427) 462 668 3,805 (809) 14,652 (2,649)
Arising on acquisition (322) (23,913) - - - 824 (23,411)
Recognised in Group 

statement of recognised 
income and expense - - - 1,063 - - 1,063

Foreign exchange and other (64) - (30) - 21 (18) (91)

At 31 July (27,464) (23,451) 2,731 4,868 1,057 5,503 (36,756) 
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25 Retirement benefit obligations

The Group operates a number of pension schemes, comprising both defined benefit schemes (including the multi-employer scheme
below) and defined contribution schemes, with assets held in separate trustee administered funds.

Historically the main IAWS Group, plc defined benefit pension scheme was a multi-employer scheme providing benefits for certain
employees of IAWS Group, plc and a number of its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) and also for certain employees of the original
holding entity, Irish Agricultural Wholesale Society Limited (“Society”). The main IAWS Group, plc defined benefit pension scheme,
which was closed to new members on 5 September 2002, was wound up on 7 September 2005. This ensured an effective
separation of Group assets and liabilities from Society assets and liabilities.

The IAWS Group, plc (UK) defined benefit scheme was closed to new members in 1998. The annual service cost in relation to this
scheme and the main IAWS Group, plc defined benefit scheme, which was closed to new members on 5 September 2002, is expected
to increase as the current members approach retirement.

Under IAS 19, Employee Benefits the total deficit in the Group’s defined benefit schemes, including the main scheme, at 31 July
2006 was €6,566,000 (2005: €34,543,000). During the year, the Board approved the funding of the Group pension scheme
deficit. Accordingly, the Group made a special contribution of €23.5 million.

The pension cost expensed in the income statement for the year in respect of the Group’s defined benefit schemes was €1,796,000
(2005: €2,021,000) and €2,228,000 (2005: €946,000) in respect of the Group’s defined contribution schemes. 

Employee benefits included in the Group balance sheet comprises the following: 2006 2005
€’000 €'000

Deficit in defined benefit schemes 6,566 34,543
Other (a) 2,310 2,309

Total 8,876 36,852            

(a) In 1989, a provision was made to meet pension fund deficiencies in subsidiaries acquired, mostly relating to unfunded pensions.
The residual actuarial deficit of €2.3 million is being spread over the remaining lifetime of the pensioners.
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25 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

The valuations of the defined benefit schemes used for the purposes of the following disclosures are those of the most recent
actuarial valuations carried out from 1 January 2001 to 6 April 2004 and updated to 31 July 2006 by an independent, qualified
actuary. The valuations have been performed using the projected unit method.

The main assumptions used by the actuary were as follows: 2006 2005

Rate of increase in salaries 4.01% 4.01%
Rate of increases in pensions in payment and deferred benefits 2.06% 2.06%
Discount rate in scheme liabilities 5.00% 4.45%
Inflation rate 2.06% 2.06%

Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are set based on advice from published statistics and experience in both
geographic regions. The average life expectancy in years of a pensioner retiring at age 65 is as follows:

2006 2005

Male 20.2 20.2
Female 23.2 23.2

The expected long term rate of return on the assets of the schemes were: 2006 2005

Equities 7.30% 6.72%
Bonds 3.90% 3.29%
Property 6.70% 4.75%
Other 3.00% 3.00%

Net pension liability 2006 2005
€’000 €'000

Market value of scheme assets:

Equities 60,811 47,891
Bonds 19,039 15,282
Property 5,345 4,019
Other 4,132 686

Total market value of assets 89,327 67,878
Present value of scheme liabilities (95,893) (102,421)

Deficit in the schemes (6,566) (34,543)
Related deferred tax asset  1,537 4,868

Net pension liability (5,029) (29,675)

Annual report 2006 for PDF  21/11/06  12:18  Page 88



89

I A W S  G R O U P , P L C  A N N U A L  R E P O R T 00 66

Notes (continued)

25 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

Movement in the fair value of scheme assets 2006 2005
€’000 €’000

Fair value of assets at 1 August 67,878 57,134
Expected return on schemes’ assets 4,577 3,701
Employer contributions 1,466 3,774
Special employer contribution 23,496 -
Employee contributions 516 317
Transfers (5,087) -
Benefit payments (2,214) (2,791)
Experience adjustment on scheme assets (1,305) 6,246
Impact of acquisitions - (503)

Fair value of assets at 31 July 89,327 67,878

Movement in the present value of scheme obligations 2006 2005
€’000 €’000

Value of scheme obligations at 1 August (102,421) (85,473)
Current service cost (2,091) (1,545)
Past service cost - (27)
Interest on scheme obligations (4,282) (4,150)
Employee contributions (516) (317)
Transfers 5,087 -
Benefit payments 2,214 2,791
Experience adjustment on scheme liabilities (1,066) (2,052)
Effect of changes in actuarial assumptions 7,182 (11,648)

Value of scheme obligations at 31 July (95,893) (102,421)

Movement in net liability recognised in the balance sheet 2006 2005
€’000 €’000

Net liability in schemes at 1 August (34,543) (28,339)
Current service cost (2,091) (1,545)
Past service cost - (27)
Contributions 24,962 3,774
Other finance income 295 (449)
Actuarial gain / (loss) 4,811 (7,454)
Impact of acquisitions - (503)

Net liability in schemes at 31 July (6,566) (34,543)
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25 Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

Analysis of defined benefit expense recognised in the Group income statement 2006 2005
€’000 €’000

Current service cost 2,091 1,545
Past service cost - 27

Total recognised in operating profit 2,091 1,572

Expected return on scheme assets (4,577) (3,701)
Interest cost on scheme liabilities 4,282 4,150

Included in financing costs (295) 449

Net charge to Group income statement 1,796 2,021

Actual return on pension scheme assets 3,272 9,947

Defined benefit pension expense recognised in the Statement of recognised income and expense 2006 2005
€’000 €’000

Actual return less expected return on scheme assets (1,305) 6,246
Experience gains and losses on scheme liabilities (1,066) (2,052)
Changes in demographic and financial assumptions 7,182 (11,648)

Actuarial gain/(loss) 4,811 (7,454)
Deferred tax (469) 1,063

Actuarial gain/(loss) recognised in Statement of recognised income and expense 4,342 (6,391)

History of experience gains and losses: 2006 2005

Difference between expected and actual return on assets
- Amount (€’000) (1,305) 6,246
- % of scheme assets (1.5%) 9.2%

Experience losses on scheme liabilities
- Amount (€’000) (1,066) (2,052)
- % of scheme liabilities (1.1%) (2.0%)

Total actuarial gain/(loss) recognised in Statement of recognised income and expense
- Amount (€’000) 4,811 (7,454)
- % of scheme liabilities 5.2% (7.3%)
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Notes (continued)

26 Share capital 2006 2006 2005 2005
’000 €’000 ’000 €’000

Authorised 
Ordinary shares of 30 cent each (i) 228,000 68,400 228,000 68,400
8.5% cumulative redeemable convertible preference shares of €1.20 each 15,000 18,000 15,000 18,000

Total 243,000 86,400 243,000 86,400

Allotted, called up and fully paid 
At 1 August 124,905 37,471 123,925 37,177
Issued on exercise of options 1,283 385 980 294

Total (all ordinary shares of 30 cent each) 126,188 37,856 124,905 37,471

(i) Ordinary shareholders are entitled to dividends as declared and each ordinary share carries equal voting rights at meetings
of the Company.

27 Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

31 July 2006 Foreign

Cash flow Share currency 

Share hedge option Other translation Retained

premium reserve reserve reserves reserve earnings Total

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

At 1 August 2005 43,745 - 1,517 3,198 (1,097) 294,597 341,960

Impact of adoption 
of IAS 32 and IAS 39 - 711 - - - - 711

Related deferred tax - (89) - - - - (89)

At 1 August 2005, adjusted 43,745 622 1,517 3,198 (1,097) 294,597 342,582

Foreign exchange translation - - - - (57) - (57)
Group and associate defined benefit

pension schemes - - - - - 4,811 4,811
Deferred tax on Group defined 

benefit schemes - - - - - (469) (469)
Gains relating to cash flow hedges - 174 - - - - 174
Deferred tax relating to

cash flow hedges - (40) - - - - (40)
Profit for the period attributable

to equity holders - - - - - 98,798 98,798
Issue of ordinary shares 8,154 - - - - - 8,154
Share based payments - - 1,550 - - - 1,550
Dividends paid - - - - - (16,036) (16,036)
Share of associates’ other reserve

movements - (21) - - 524 - 503

At 31 July 2006 51,899 735 3,067 3,198 (630) 381,701 439,970
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27 Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity (continued)

31 July 2005 Foreign

Share currency 

Share option Other translation Retained

premium reserve reserves reserve earnings Total

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

At 1 August 2004 37,918 650 3,198 - 223,401 265,167

Foreign exchange translation - - - (1,097) - (1,097)
Group and associate defined benefit

pension schemes - - - - (10,175) (10,175)
Deferred tax on group defined

benefit pension schemes - - - - 1,063 1,063
Profit for the period attributable to equity holders - - - - 94,360 94,360
Issue of ordinary shares 5,827 - - - - 5,827
Expensing of employee share options - 867 - - - 867
Dividends paid - - - - (14,052) (14,052)

At 31 July 2005 43,745 1,517 3,198 (1,097) 294,597 341,960

Other reserves
These reserves comprise €2,118,000 relating to a capital conversion reserve which arose on the renominalisation of the Group’s
share capital following the introduction of the euro as well as €1,080,000 of other non-distributable reserves.

Share option reserve
This reserve comprises amounts credited to reserves in connection with share option grants less the effect of any exercises of such
options.

Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments
related to hedged transactions that have not yet occurred.

Foreign currency translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences from 1 August 2004, arising from the translation of the net
assets of the Group’s non-euro denominated operations, including the translation of the profits of such operations from the average
exchange rate for the year to the exchange rate at the balance sheet date, net of hedging. 
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Notes (continued)

28 Minority interest 2006 2005
€'000 €'000

Balance at 1 August 3,924 3,270
Share of profit after tax for the year 331 276
Share of foreign exchange translation adjustment 21 (75)
Arising on acquisition - 528
Repurchase of minority interest (1,366) -
Dividends paid - (205)
Other - 130

Balance at 31 July 2,910 3,924

During the year, the Group repurchased a minority interest held in a subsidiary of the Food Europe business.

29 Commitments under operating leases

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as set out below.  These amounts represent minimum future lease payments,
in aggregate, that the Group is required to make under existing lease agreements.

2006 2005
€'000 €'000

Operating leases which expire:
Within one year 6,908 3,924
In two to five years 9,185 8,050
After more than five years 5,092 3,911

Balance at 31 July 21,185 15,885
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30 Acquisitions

During the year, the Food Europe division acquired a small business which did not have a significant effect on the results of the
Group.

On 10 December 2004, the Group completed the acquisition of Groupe Hubert, a French food company.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill arising from the business combination is as follows: 2005

€'000

Net assets acquired:
Property, plant and equipment 9,403
Customer and brand intangible assets 44,410
Other intangible assets 23,913
Inventory 5,431
Trade and other receivables 18,462
Minority interest (528)
Trade and other payables (28,354)
Deferred tax (23,821)
Debt assumed on acquisition (12,393)
Finance leases acquired (3,759)

Net assets acquired excluding minority 32,764
Goodwill arising on acquisition 87,931

Consideration 120,695

Satisfied by:
Cash 104,090
Cash acquired on acquisition (9,949)
Deferred purchase consideration 26,554

120,695

Post acquisition revenues and operating profit relating to Groupe Hubert amounted to €82,625,000 and €7,375,000, respectively.
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of Groupe Hubert reflects the strategic positioning of the Group in mainland Europe.
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Notes (continued)

31 Contingent liabilities 2006 2005
€'000 €'000

(a) Government grants repayable if grant conditions are not met 3,910 3,910

(b) In order to avail of the exemption under Section 17 of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1986 the Group has guaranteed the
liabilities of certain of its subsidiaries registered in Ireland. Where the Group has entered into financial guarantee contracts to
guarantee the indebtedness of such subsidiaries, the Group considers these to be insurance contracts and accounts for them
as such. The Group treats the guarantee contract as a contingent liability until such time as it becomes probable that that the
Group will be required to make a payment under the guarantee.

(c) The Group and its subsidiaries have given composite guarantee and indemnity to secure obligations of fellow subsidiary
undertakings on all sums due: €500,000,000 in respect of bank loans and bank advances and €20,000,000 in respect of
guarantee and trade finance facilities. The Group considers these to be insurance contracts and accounts for them as such.

32 Related party transactions

In the normal course of business, the Group undertakes arms-length transactions with its associates, joint venture and other related
parties. Included in sale of goods below are sales to associates of €9,619,000. A summary of transactions with these related parties
during the year are as follows:

2006 2005
€'000 €'000

Sale of goods 70,969 61,514
Purchase of goods (5,903) (6,660)
Provision of services 596 2,051
Receiving of services (13) (1,260)

The trading balances owing to the Group from related parties were €4,243,000 (2005: €4,161,000) and the trading balances owing
from the Group to these related parties were €7,769,000 (2005: €3,296,000).

During the year, the Group invested €35,061,000 in acquiring an additional 10% shareholding in one of its associates, Hiestand
Holding AG.

Compensation of key management personnel

For the purposes of the disclosure requirements of IAS 24, Related Party Disclosures, the term “key management personnel” (i.e.
those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group) comprises the
Board of Directors which manages the business and affairs of the Group. Full disclosure in relation to the compensation entitlements
of the Board of Directors is provided in the Report on directors’ remuneration on pages 39 to 43 of this Annual Report. 
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33 Transition to International Financial Reporting Standards

As stated in the accounting policies, these are the Group’s first financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.

Impact on Group financial statements
In restating the Group’s financial statements, IAWS Group, plc, in common with most other listed companies, has availed of the
following relevant mandatory and optional exemptions in accordance with IFRS 1, First –time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards, and a number of other standards:

• Business combinations before 1 August 2004 have not been restated. Consequently, goodwill at the transition date is carried
forward at its net book value and, along with goodwill on subsequent acquisitions, is subject to annual impairment testing.
Goodwill was assessed for impairment at the transition date and no impairment charges arose from this exercise. Goodwill on
acquisitions prior to 1998, which was set-off against revenue reserves under Irish/UK Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (Irish/UK GAAP) is deemed to be permanently written off under IFRS and not subject to impairment testing or write-
off on disposal.

• Cumulative currency translation differences have been reset at zero at the transition date. The currency translation reserve
mainly comprises the re-translation of the net assets of the Group’s non-euro denominated subsidiaries and joint venture net
of exchange differences on related borrowings. Going forward, cumulative currency translation differences will be included in
the profit or loss on disposal of any subsidiary, joint venture or associate.

• Cumulative actuarial gains or losses on the Group’s defined benefit pension schemes have been recognised in full in the
transition balance sheet. IAWS Group, plc is not applying the corridor approach to recognising actuarial gains or losses.

• IFRS 2, Share-based Payment is being applied in respect of share options granted after 7 November 2002.

• The Group is applying IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation and Disclosure and IAS 39, Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement prospectively from 1 August 2005. Consequently, financial instruments are recognised in
accordance with Irish/UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (Irish/UK GAAP) in the 2005 comparative information. The
fair value of derivatives on 1 August 2005 was adjusted against the opening balance on the hedging reserve.

The Group accounting policies, set out on pages 53 to 59 have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the years
ended 31 July 2005 and 2006 and in the preparation of an opening IFRS balance sheet at 1 August 2004 (the Group’s date of
transition).

In preparing its opening IFRS balance sheet, the Group has adjusted amounts reported previously in financial statements
prepared in accordance with its Irish basis of accounting (Irish GAAP). 

The key impacts on the Group arising from transition to IFRS can be summarised as follows:

Pensions

IAS 19, Employee Benefits, requires that surpluses or deficits under defined benefit pension schemes be recognised on the
Group balance sheet. In addition, any operating and financial costs of these schemes, which should be calculated in line with
IAS 19 principles, are accounted for in the Group income statement. Under Irish GAAP, the Group provided for its defined benefit
plans under SSAP 24, which spread the cost of pensions over the employees’ period of service. This cost, which was broadly the
same as the annual funding contribution, was charged to the profit and loss account.
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Notes (continued)

33 Transition to International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Pensions (continuted)
IAS 19 allows a number of alternatives in relation to the recognition of actuarial gains and losses. The Group is adopting a policy
of the immediate recognition of such gains or losses in full through the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense. This
option has been applied upon the early adoption of the Amendment to IAS 19, Employee Benefits. 

Goodwill and intangible assets

Under IFRS 3, Business Combinations, goodwill is no longer amortised, but is subject to annual impairment tests. As a result,
goodwill amortisation that was charged in the Group’s 2005 interim and full year financial statements, originally prepared under
Irish GAAP, has been reversed in the revised IFRS financial information. The Group conducted impairment testing on its goodwill
for 2005 and these tests did not identify any impairment charges on transition or in the year. 

IFRS 3 also requires companies to determine the fair value of intangible assets acquired as part of any business combination,
after the transition date of 1 August 2004, where these are identifiable and can be measured reliably. Such intangible assets can
include customer - related intangibles, brand related intangibles, contract based intangibles, technology, patents etc. Intangible
assets that are separately identified must be amortised to the income statement over their estimated useful economic lives,
except where such lives are infinite. 

In accordance with IFRS 3, the Group has reviewed its acquisition of Groupe Hubert, in December 2004, and has identified
intangible assets amounting to €44.4m at the date of acquisition. These assets are brand related intangibles (€27.1m) and
customer related intangibles (€17.3m) and are being amortised over fifteen and twelve year periods respectively. The goodwill
on this transaction has therefore been reduced to €87.9m, as opposed to €131.8m under Irish GAAP. Under IFRS, deferred tax is
recognised in a business combination for any difference between the fair value of an acquired asset and its equivalent tax base.
Therefore, based on current interpretation of IFRS 3 and IAS 12, Income Taxes, the Group has recognised an incremental deferred
tax liability of €23.9m, with a corresponding increase in intangible assets. There is no net effect on the income statement as the
increase in the intangible asset amortisation charge each year is offset by the release of an equal deferred tax credit.

The Group has excluded amortisation charges on these intangible assets from its adjusted earnings per share, in the same way
that goodwill amortisation was previously excluded in its Irish GAAP financial statements.

In addition, a licence with a carrying value of €5.1m previously included in goodwill, but which meets the definition of a brand
related intangible, has been reclassified to intangible assets under IAS 38 and will continue to be amortised over its useful life of
20 years.

Under Irish GAAP, computer software was previously capitalised as a tangible fixed asset. Under IAS 38, Intangible Assets,
computer software that is not an integral part of an item of computer hardware is capitalised as an intangible asset. 

Expensing of share options

Under IFRS 2, Share-based Payment, the charge to the income statement is based on the fair value of share options granted to
employees, after 7 November 2002, spread on a straight line basis over the vesting period of the options.

Dividend recognition

Under IAS 10, Events after the Balance Sheet, dividends declared after the balance sheet date are not recognised in the balance
sheet, but are disclosed in the notes to the accounts. Consequently the proposed dividends provided at 1 August 2004 and 31
July 2005 have been reversed.
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33 Transition to International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Accounting for associates and joint venture

Under Irish GAAP the Group’s share of profit from its joint venture and associates was split in the profit and loss account between
operating profit, interest income/expense and taxation. The joint venture was accounted for under the gross equity method,
under which the Group’s share of the joint venture turnover was disclosed separately within turnover and the Group’s share of
gross assets and liabilities was disclosed separately in the balance sheet. The Group has elected to continue to apply equity
accounting in relation to its joint venture, rather than proportionate consolidation. However, under IAS 1, Presentation of
Financial Statements, the Group’s share of the profit after tax of entities accounted for under equity accounting rules must be
presented as a single figure in the Group’s profit before tax line, with no separate analysis of interest or tax charges. 

This required presentation does not impact profit attributable to shareholders or earnings per share. Under IFRS, the accounting
policies of associates and joint ventures must be consistent with the policies of the Group. As a result, further adjustment is
required to reflect IFRS policies in the accounts of the Group’s associates and joint venture. This adjustment relates mainly to
the adoption of IAS 19 in respect of associates. 

Taxation

The main difference in IAS 12, Income Taxes, compared to Irish GAAP relates to the basis of accounting for deferred tax. Under IAS
12, deferred tax is based on the concept of temporary differences, which are calculated by comparing the carrying value of each
balance sheet item to its tax base. 

The main adjustments arising in relation to tax are as follows:

• Recognition of deferred tax assets in relation to the Group’s defined benefit pension schemes.
• Recognition of deferred tax liability in relation to intangible assets. This liability is released to the income statement in line

with the amortisation of the related intangible assets. 
• Deferred tax was not recognised on timing differences arising on gains on the sale of assets, under FRS 19, if it was more

likely than not that such gains would be rolled over. Deferred tax must be provided on all rolled over gains under IAS 12.
• Deferred tax was not recognised on timing differences arising on the revaluation of assets under FRS 19, whereas this must

be recognised under IAS 12.
• The Group’s share of the tax charge of its joint venture and associates is netted against the Group’s share of profit of these

entities rather than included in the total tax charge, when accounted for under IFRS equity accounting rules.
• The tax impact of certain adjustments to the income statement arising from the adoption of other standards under the

transition to IFRS.

Detailed reconciliations from Irish GAAP to IFRS of the Group’s financial performance, financial position and cash flows are
contained in the following pages.
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Notes (continued)

33 Transition to International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Group transition balance sheet as at 1 August 2004
Goodwill &

Under Share intangibles Events after Other Restated

Irish GAAP Pensions options reclass B/S date Incl. reclass IFRS

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Assets

Non current asset
Property, plant & equipment 247,135 - - (4,365) - - 242,770
Intangible assets - goodwill 183,531 - - (5,139) - - 178,392
Intangible assets - other - - - 9,504 - - 9,504
Investments using equity accounting 116,991 (4,865) - - - (1,825) 110,301
Investments (available for sale) 245 - - - - - 245
Deferred tax assets - 3,904 - - - 3,897 7,801

Total non current assets 547,902 (961) - - - 2,072 549,013

Current assets
Inventory 88,740 - - - - - 88,740
Trade debtors and other receivables 130,588 - - - - - 130,588
Current asset investments - - - - - - -
Cash and cash equivalents 46,508 - - - - - 46,508

Total current assets 265,836 - - - - - 265,836

Total assets 813,738 (961) - - - 2,072 814,849

Equity

Called up share capital 37,177 - - - - - 37,177
Share premium 37,918 - - - - - 37,918
Share option reserve - - 650 - - - 650
Capital conversion reserve fund 2,118 - - - - - 2,118
Other non distributable reserves 1,080 - - - - - 1,080
Goodwill write off reserve (111,206) - - - - - (111,206)
Retained earnings 367,035 (27,099) (650) - 6,744 (11,423) 334,607

Total shareholders equity 334,122 (27,099) - - 6,744 (11,423) 302,344

Minority interest 3,270 - - - - - 3,270

Total equity and minority 337,392 (27,099) - - 6,744 (11,423) 305,614

Liabilities

Non current liabilities
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 174,011 - - - - - 174,011
Employee benefits 2,326 28,339 - - - - 30,665
Government grants 4,429 - - - - - 4,429
Other payables 987 - - - - - 987
Deferred tax liabilities 5,932 - - - - 13,495 19,427
Provisions 16,938 - - - - - 16,938

Total non current liabilities 204,623 28,339 - - - 13,495 246,457

Current liabilities
Interest bearings borrowings 13,907 - - - - - 13,907
Trade payables and other payables 237,708 (2,201) - - (6,744) - 228,763
Corporation tax payable 14,674 - - - - - 14,674
Provisions 5,434 - - - - - 5,434

Total current liabilities 271,723 (2,201) - - (6,744) - 262,778

Total liabilities 476,346 26,138 - - (6,744) 13,495 509,235

Total liabilities and equity 813,738 (961) - - - 2,072 814,849
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33 Transition to International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Restatement of Group income statement for the year ended 31 July 2005

Reclass Share 

Under depn to option Asso/JV Goodwill Restated

Irish GAAP amortisation Pension expense Amortisation presentation writeback Reclass IFRS

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Revenue including Group 
share of joint venture 1,455,061 - - - - - - - 1,455,061

Group revenue 1,408,174 - - - - - - - 1,408,174

Cost of sales (1,110,506) - - - - - - - (1,110,506)

Gross profit 297,668 - - - - - - - 297,668

Distribution, administration 
and other expenses (201,064) 1,157 2,108 (867) - - - (454) (199,120)

Intangible amortisation (3,548) (1,157) - - 81 - - - (4,624)
Profit on disposal of operations 8,670 - - - - - 1,331 - 10,001
Loss on termination of operations (1,374) - - - - - - - (1,374)
Loss on disposal of fixed assets (454) - - - - - - 454 -
Share of profit of associates 

& joint venture 27,478 - - - - (5,958) - - 21,520

Profit from operations before 

financing costs 127,376 - 2,108 (867) 81 (5,958) 1,331 - 124,071

Net financing costs (Group) (11,851) - (449) - - - - - (12,300)
Net financing costs associates

and joint venture (541) - - - - 541 - - -

Profit before tax 114,984 - 1,659 (867) 81 (5,417) 1,331 - 111,771

Income tax (23,555) - (99) - 462 6,057 - - (17,135)

Profit for the year 91,429 - 1,560 (867) 543 640 1,331 - 94,636

Attributable as follows:
Equity shareholders 91,153 - 1,560 (867) 543 640 1,331 - 94,360
Minority interest 276 - - - - - - - 276

91,429 - 1,560 (867) 543 640 1,331 - 94,636

Earnings per share
Basic 73.29 75.86
Fully diluted 72.27 74.87
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33 Transition to International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Restatement of Group balance sheet as at 31 July 2005

Goodwill &

Under Share intangibles Events after Associate Other incl Restated

Irish GAAP Pensions options reclass Amortisation B/S date & JV Adj. reclasses IFRS

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000

Assets

Non current assets
Property, plant & equipment 294,598 - - (7,020) - - - - 287,578
Intangible assets - goodwill 304,511 503 - (49,549) 3,548 - - - 259,013
Intangible assets - other - - - 80,482 (3,467) - - - 77,015
Investments using equity accounting 124,858 (7,586) - - - - 640 (1,825) 116,087
Investments (available for sale) 242 - - - - - - - 242
Deferred tax assets - 4,868 - - - - - 10,161 15,029

Total non current assets 724,209 (2,215) - 23,913 81 - 640 8,336 754,964

Current assets
Inventory 88,299 - - - - - - - 88,299
Trade debtors and other receivables 169,514 - - - - - - - 169,514
Current asset investments - - - - - - - 4,000 4,000
Cash and cash equivalents 51,687 - - - - - - (4,000) 47,687

Total current assets 309,500 - - - - - - - 309,500

Total assets 1,033,709 (2,215) - 23,913 81 - 640 8,336 1,064,464

Equity

Called up share capital 37,471 - - - - - - - 37,471
Share premium 43,745 - - - - - - - 43,745
Share option reserve fund - - 1,517 - - - - - 1,517
Capital conversion reserve fund 2,118 - - - - - - - 2,118
Other non distributable reserves 1,080 - - - - - - - 1,080
Goodwill write off reserve (109,875) - - - - - - (1,331) (111,206)
Foreign currency translation reserve - - - - - - - (1,097) (1,097)
Retained earnings 442,224 (34,651) (1,517) - 543 7,559 640 (8,995) 405,803

Total shareholders equity 416,763 (34,651) - - 543 7,559 640 (11,423) 379,431

Minority interest 3,924 - - - - - - - 3,924

Total equity and minority 420,687 (34,651) - - 543 7,559 640 (11,423) 383,355

Liabilities

Non current liabilities
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 237,555 - - - - - - - 237,555
Employee benefits 2,309 34,543 - - - - - - 36,852
Government grants 3,359 - - - - - - - 3,359
Other payables 450 - - - - - - - 450
Deferred tax liabilities 8,575 - - 23,913 (462) - - 19,759 51,785
Provisions 31,950 - - - - - - - 31,950

Total non current liabilities 284,198 34,543 - 23,913 (462) - - 19,759 361,951

Current liabilities
Interest bearings borrowings 30,001 - - - - - - - 30,001
Trade payables and other payables 283,131 (2,107) - - - (7,559) - - 273,465
Corporation tax payable 11,027 - - - - - - - 11,027
Provisions 4,665 - - - - - - - 4,665

Total current liabilities 328,824 (2,107) - - - (7,559) - - 319,158

Total liabilities 613,022 32,436 - 23,913 (462) (7,559) - 19,759 681,109

Total liabilities and equity 1,033,709 (2,215) - 23,913 81 - 640 8,336 1,064,464
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Notes (continued)

33 Transition to International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Restatement of Group cash flow statement  as at 31 July 2005
Goodwill and  

Under intangibles Share Other  Restated 

Irish GAAP reclass Pension options reclasses IFRS 

€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Operating profit 93,056 81 2,108 (867) (454) 93,924
Depreciation of property, plant and  equipment 24,651 (1,157) - - - 23,494
Amortisation of intangible assets 3,548 1,076 - - - 4,624
Amortisation of government grants - - - - - -
Cost of employee share-based payments - - - 867 - 867
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment - - - - 454 454
Foreign exchange gains 728 - - - - 728
Operating profit before changes in working capital 121,983 - 2,108 - - 124,091

Increase/(decrease) in inventory 4,598 - - - - 4,598
Increase in trade and other receivables (26,229) - - - - (26,229)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables 20,157 - (2,108) - - 18,049

Cash generated from operating activities 120,509 - - - - 120,509

Interest paid (12,411) - - - - (12,411)
Income tax paid (18,771) - - - - (18,771)
Dividends paid to minorities (205) - - - - (205)

Net cash from operating activities 89,122 - - - 89,122

Cash flows from investing activities 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 2,451 - - - - 2,451
Purchase of property plant and equipment 
- Ongoing (7,363) - - - - (7,363)
- New investments (43,931) - - - - (43,931)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, businesses and associates,

net of cash acquired (90,141) - - - (4,000) (94,141)
Disposal of subsidiaries and business 14,743 - - - - 14,743
Dividends received 16,223 - - - - 16,223
Investments in and advances to associates and joint venture (3,304) - - - - (3,304)
Deferred consideration paid (6,788) - - - - (6,788)
Other 33 - - - - 33

Net cash flow from investing activities (118,077) - - - (4,000) (122,077)

Cash flows from financing activities 

Proceeds from issue of share capital 6,121 - - - - 6,121
Drawdown of loan capital 46,409 - - - - 46,409
Capital element of finance lease liabilities (565) - - - - (565)
Equity dividends paid (14,052) - - - - (14,052)

Net cash from financing activities 37,913 - - - 37,913

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 8,958 - - - (4,000) 4,958

Translation adjustment (155) - - - - (155)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 August 2004 38,616 - - - - 38,616

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 July 2005 47,419 - - - (4,000) 43,419

34 Approval of financial statements

These financial statements were approved by the Board on 25 September 2006.
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Company statement of accounting policies
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered material in relation to
the Company’s financial statements, with the exception of the accounting policies for pensions, share based payments, dividends
and financial instruments which have been changed following the adoption of FRS 17, Retirement Benefits, FRS 20, Share Based
Payment, FRS 21, Events After The Balance Sheet Date, FRS 25, Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation and FRS 26,
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 

Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared in euro and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles under the historical
cost convention and comply with financial reporting standards of the Accounting Standards Board, as promulgated by The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in Ireland.

In accordance with the Companies Acts, 1963 to 2005 the Company is permitted to take advantage of the exemption in Section
148(8) of the Companies Act 1963 from presenting to its members its Company profit and loss account and related notes that form
part of the approved Company financial statements.

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and provisions for impairment. 

Freehold land is not depreciated.  The charge for depreciation is calculated to write down the cost of other fixed assets including
leased assets to their estimated residual values by equal instalments over their expected useful lives which are as follows:

Buildings 25 to 50 years
Fixtures and fittings 3 to 15 years
Motor vehicles 3 to 7.5 years

The carrying value of tangible assets is reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the net book
amount may not be recoverable.

Investments in subsidiaries 

Investments in subsidiaries are shown at cost less provisions for impairments in value.  Income from financial fixed assets is
recognised in the profit and loss account in the year in which it is receivable. 

Leased assets

Tangible fixed assets acquired under finance leases are included in the balance sheet at their equivalent capital value and are
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives. The corresponding liabilities are recorded as a creditor and the
interest element of the finance lease rentals is charged to the profit and loss account on an annuity basis. Operating lease rentals
are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight line basis over the lease term.

Employee benefits

The Company makes pension contributions for a substantial number of employees.

For the Company's defined benefit scheme, the difference between the market value of the scheme's assets and the actuarially
assessed present value of the scheme's liabilities, calculated using the projected unit credit method, is disclosed as an
asset/liability in the balance sheet, net of deferred tax to the extent that it is deemed to be recoverable.
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Company statement of accounting policies (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

Employee benefits (continued)

The amount charged to operating profit is the actuarially determined cost of pension benefits promised to employees and earned
during the year plus the cost of any benefit improvements granted to members during the year.

The expected return on the pension scheme's assets during the year and the increase in the scheme's liabilities due to the
unwinding of the discount during the year are shown as financing costs in the profit and loss account.  Any difference between the
expected return on assets and that actually achieved, and any changes in the liabilities due to changes in assumptions or because
actual experience during the year was different to that assumed, are recognised as actuarial gains and losses in the statement of
total recognised gains and losses.

Taxation

Current tax is provided on the Company’s taxable profits, at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) using the tax rates and laws
that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date, as
required by FRS 19: Deferred Tax.  Provision is made at the rates expected to apply when the timing differences reverse.  A net
deferred tax asset is regarded as recoverable and therefore recognised only when, on the basis of all available evidence, it can be
regarded as more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying timing
differences can be deducted.

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transactions or at a contracted rate.  The resulting
monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the balance sheet rate or the contracted rate and the exchange differences are dealt
with in the profit and loss account.

Cash flow statement

Under the provisions of FRS 1, Cash Flow Statements, a cash flow statement has not been prepared as the published Group financial
statements, in which the Company’s results are consolidated, include a cash flow statement.

Related party transactions

Under the exemption granted by FRS 8, Related Party Disclosures, the Company, as a member of a group which publishes Group
financial statements in which the Company’s results are consolidated, is not required to, and does not, disclose transactions with
fellow members, associates and joint venture of that Group.

Dividends

Dividends are recognised in the period in which they are approved by the Company’s shareholders, or in the case of an interim
dividend, when it has been approved by the Board of Directors and paid.

Share based payment

The fair value of options granted under the Company’s equity settled share option scheme is recognised as an expense with a
corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and spread over the period during which the employees
become unconditionally entitled to the options. The fair value of the options granted is measured using an approved binomial model,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The scheme is subject to a non-market vesting
condition and, therefore, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that vest.
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Company balance sheet
AS AT 31 JULY 2006

2005
2006 (as restated)

Notes €’000 €’000
Fixed assets

Tangible assets 1 18,508 37,954
Investments in subsidiaries 2 123,228 129,736

141,736 167,690            
Current assets

Debtors 3 156,848 161,237
Cash at bank and on hand 1 5

156,849 161,242
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 4 (20,972) (59,242)

Net current assets 135,877 102,000

Net assets before post employment liabilities 277,613 269,690

Post employment liabilities 5 (2,247) (26,392)

Net assets 275,366 243,298

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 6 37,856 37,471
Share premium 7 51,899 43,745
Profit and loss account and other reserves 7 185,611 162,082

Shareholders’ funds - equity 275,366 243,298
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Notes to the Company balance sheet
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

1 Tangible assets Land and Fixtures

buildings and fittings Total

€'000 €'000 €'000

Cost
At 1 August 2005 37,644 1,731 39,375
Additions 93 785 878
Transfers to fellow group companies (20,209) - (20,209)
Disposals - (1,045) (1,045)

At 31 July 2006 17,528 1,471 18,999

Depreciation
At 1 August 2005 67 1,354 1,421
Charge for year 268 99 367
Transfers to fellow group companies (252) - (252)
Disposals - (1,045) (1,045)

At 31 July 2006 83 408 491

Net book amounts
At 31 July 2006 17,445 1,063 18,508

At 31 July 2005 37,577 377 37,954

2 Financial assets Total

€'000

At 1 August 2005 129,736
Additions 1,276
Disposals (9,460)
Translation adjustments 1,676

At 31 July 2006 123,228

3 Debtors 2006 2005
€'000 €'000

Trade debtors 32 34
Amounts owed by subsidiaries 150,946 156,682
Amounts owed by associates 28 7
Other debtors 5,842 4,514

156,848 161,237
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Notes to the Company balance sheet (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

4 Creditors:  amounts falling due within one year 2005
2006 (as restated)

€'000 €'000

Bank overdrafts 3,637 18,300
Trade creditors 1,303 960
Deferred consideration - 1,771
Accruals and other creditors 14,961 17,015
Leasing creditors - 19,956
VAT payable 656 809
PAYE and PRSI 415 431

20,972 59,242

5 Post employment liabilities

The Company operates a number of pension schemes, comprising a defined benefit scheme and a number of defined contribution
schemes, with assets held in separate trustee administered funds.

Under FRS 17 calculations the total deficit in the Company’s defined benefit schemes at 31 July 2006 was €2,568,000 (2005:
€30,082,000). The pension cost expensed in the profit and loss account for the year in respect of the Company’s defined benefit
schemes was €1,273,000 (2005: €1,474,000).  

The valuation of the defined benefit scheme used for the purposes of the following disclosures are those of the most recent actuarial
valuations carried out from 1 January 2001 to 6 April 2004 and updated to 31 July 2006 by an independent, qualified actuary.  The
valuations have been performed using the projected unit method.

The main assumptions used by the actuary were as follows: 2006 2005 2004

Rate of increase in salaries 4.01% 4.01% 4.04%
Rate of increases in pensions in payment and deferred benefits 2.06% 2.06% 2.08%
Discount rate in scheme liabilities 5.00% 4.45% 5.29%
Inflation rate 2.06% 2.06% 2.08%

The expected long term rate of return on the assets of the schemes were: 2006 2005 2004

Equities 7.30% 6.72% 7.62%
Bonds 3.90% 3.29% 4.67%
Property 6.70% 4.75% 5.49%
Other 3.00% 3.00% 3.00%
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Notes to the Company balance sheet (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

5 Post employment liabilities (continued)

Net pension liability 2006 2005 2004
€'000 €'000 €'000

Market value of scheme assets:

Equities 55,943 37,846 31,491
Bonds 16,256 11,839 9,851
Property 5,345 3,511 2,922
Other 3,986 251 208

Total market value of assets 81,530 53,447 44,472
Present value of scheme liabilities (84,098) (83,529) (69,153)

Deficit in the scheme (2,568) (30,082) (24,681)
Related deferred tax asset 321 3,690 3,047

Net pension liability (2,247) (26,392) (21,634)

Movement in net liability recognised in the balance sheet 2006 2005
€'000 €'000

Net liability in scheme at 1 August (30,082) (24,681)
Current service cost (1,725) (1,142)
Past service cost - (27)
Contributions 24,476 3,279
Other finance income 452 (305)
Actuarial gain/(loss) 5,582 (7,206)
Other (1,271) -

Net liability in scheme at 31 July (2,568) (30,082)

Analysis of defined benefit expense recognised in the profit and loss account 2006 2005
€'000 €'000

Current service cost 1,725 1,142
Past service cost - 27

Total recognised in operating profit 1,725 1,169

Expected return on scheme assets (4,242) (2,948)
Interest cost on scheme liabilities 3,790 3,253

Included in financing costs (452) 305

Net charge to the profit and loss account 1,273 1,474
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Notes to the Company balance sheet (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

5 Post employment liabilities (continued)

Defined benefit pension expense recognised in the statement of total recognised gains and losses 2006 2005
€'000 €'000

Actual return less expected return on scheme assets (1,482) 4,904
Experience gains and losses on scheme liabilities (445) (2,188)
Changes in demographic and financial assumptions 7,509 (9,922)

Actuarial gain/(loss) 5,582 (7,206)
Deferred tax (charge)/credit (698) 1,013

Actuarial gain/(loss) recognised in Statement of total recognised gains and losses 4,884 (6,193)

History of experience gains and losses: 2006 2005 2004

Difference between expected and actual return on assets
- Amount (€'000) 1,482 (4,904) (2,028)
- % of scheme assets 1.8% (9.2%) (4.6%)

Experience losses on scheme liabilities
- Amount (€'000) 445 2,188 6,218
- % of scheme liabilities 0.5% 2.6% 9.0%

Total actuarial (gain)/loss recognised in Statement of total recognised gains and losses
- Amount (€'000) (5,582) 7,206 4,190
- % of scheme liabilities (6.6%) 8.6% 6.1%

6 Called up share capital 2006 2005
€'000 €'000

Authorised
228,000,000 ordinary shares of 30 cent each 68,400 68,400
15,000,000 8.5% cumulative redeemable convertible preference shares of €1.20 each 18,000 18,000

86,400 86,400
Allotted, called up and fully paid
126,187,535 ordinary shares of 30 cent each (2005: 124,904,535 ordinary shares of 30 cent each) 37,856 37,471

37,856 37,471

Options over ordinary shares
Options are held over a total number of 5,587,500 (2005: 4,314,000) unissued ordinary shares at prices ranging from €2.92 cent
to €14.36 cent.  Options were exercised during the year, resulting in the issue of 1,283,000 (2005: 979,500) ordinary shares.
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Notes to the Company balance sheet (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

7 Movement on reserves

Share

Share Conversion option Profit

premium reserve reserve and loss Total

€’000 €’000 €’000 €’000 €’000

At 1 August 2005 (as restated) 43,745 2,118 1,517 158,447 205,827
Profit for year - - - 33,131 33,131
Dividends - - - (16,036) (16,036)
Actuarial gain on post employment liabilities - - - 4,884 4,884
Share based payments - - 1,550 - 1,550
Premium on shares issued 8,154 - - - 8,154

At 31 July 2006 51,899 2,118 3,067 180,426 237,510

8 Commitments under operating leases

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as set out below.  These amounts represent minimum future lease payments in
aggregate, that the Group is required to make under existing lease agreements.

2006 2005
€’000 €’000

Operating leases which expire:
Within one year 168 135
In two to five years - 168

Balance at 31 July 168 303

9 Financial guarantee contracts

In order to avail of the exemption under Section 17 of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1986 the Company has guaranteed the
liabilities of certain of its subsidiaries registered in Ireland. Where the Company has entered into financial guarantee contracts to
guarantee the indebtedness of such subsidiaries, the Company considers these to be insurance contracts and accounts for them
as such. 

The Company is party to cross guarantees on Group borrowings.  These are treated as insurance contracts and accounted for as
such. 
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Notes to the Company balance sheet (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

10 Prior period adjustments

An explanation of the prior period adjustments arising from the adoption of certain new financial reporting standards during the year,
together with their impact on the comparative financial statements are set out below:

Restatement of Company balance sheet
2005

Debtors €'000

Debtors as previously stated 160,630
FRS 20, Share-based Payment (a) 607

Debtors as restated 161,237

Total liabilities and post employment benefits 2005

€'000

Total liabilities and post employment benefits as previously stated 68,658
FRS 21, Events after the Balance Sheet Date (b) (7,559)
FRS 17, Retirement Benefits (c) 24,535

Total liabilities and post employment benefits, as restated 85,634

Profit and loss account and other reserves 2005

€'000

Profit and loss account and other reserves as previously stated 178,451
FRS 21, Events after the Balance Sheet Date 7,559
FRS 20, Share-based Payment 607
FRS 17, Retirement Benefits (24,535)

Total profit and loss account and other reserves, as restated 162,082

(a) FRS 20, Share-based Payment
In accordance with the new accounting policy in respect of share based payments as set out in the Company statement of
accounting policies, a share option reserve of €1,517,000 was created as at 31 July 2005 in respect of option grants in October
2003.  Corresponding debits of €910,000 and €607,000 were made to the profit and loss account and debtors, respectively.

(b) FRS 21, Events after the Balance Sheet Date
In accordance with the new accounting policy in respect of dividends, as set out in the Company statement of accounting
policies, dividends are recognised in the period in which they are approved by the Company’s shareholders, or in the case of an
interim dividend, when it has been approved by the Board of Directors and paid. The effect on the balance sheet is a reduction of
€7,559,000 in “Creditors: amounts falling due within one year” and a corresponding increase in retained earnings. 

(c) FRS 17, Retirement Benefits
The adoption of FRS 17 has required a change to the accounting treatment of defined benefit pension arrangements such that
the Company now includes the assets and liabilities of these arrangements in the balance sheet.  Current service costs,
curtailment and settlement gains and losses and net financial returns are included in the profit and loss account in the year to
which they relate. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the statement of total recognised gains and losses. The effect on
the balance sheet is an increase of €24,535,000 in total liabilities and post employment benefits and a corresponding
decrease in retained earnings.
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Notes to the Company balance sheet (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2006

11 Share based payment

The Company grants share options under one share option plan, the “1997 Share Option Scheme”.  All disclosures relating to the plan
are made in Note 8 to the Group financial statements.

12 Statutory and other information 2006 2005
€’000 €’000

Auditor’s remuneration for audit services 13 11
Profit for the financial year 33,131 85,657

Substantially all the Group audit fee is recharged by the Company to its subsidiaries.

13 Employment

The average number of persons employed by the Company during the year was as follows: 2006 2005

Management and administration 58 48

2006 2005
Aggregate employment costs of the Company are analysed as follows: €’000 €'000

Wages and salaries 7,377 5,556
Social welfare costs 404 227
Pension costs
- defined benefit schemes – statement of total recognised gains and losses (5,582) 7,206
- defined benefit schemes – income statement 1,273 1,474
Share based payment 899 520

4,371 14,983

14 Approval of financial statements

These financial statements were approved by the Board on 25 September 2006.
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Principal subsidiary undertakings

At 31 July 2006 the Company had the following significant subsidiaries, associates and joint venture:

Name Nature of Group Registered

business % share office

(a) Subsidiaries – Ireland
Cuisine de France Limited Food manufacturing and distribution 100* 3
Goulding Chemicals Limited Fertiliser blending and distribution 100* 1
IAWS Management Services Limited Management 100 1
IAWS Technology and Global Services Limited Research and development 100 1
Power Seeds Limited Seed assemblers 100 1
R. & H. Hall Limited Grain and feed trading 100* 1
Shamrock Foods Limited Food distribution 100* 1
United Fish Industries Limited Fish processing 100 1

(b) Subsidiaries – United Kingdom
Cuisine de France (UK) Limited Food distribution 100 8
Delice de France, plc Food manufacturing and distribution 100 12
Hall Silos Limited Grain handling 100 5
IAWS Fertilisers (UK) Limited Fertiliser blending and distribution 100 2
R. & H. (Holdings) Limited Holding company 100 6
SFP (Shetland Fish Products) Limited Fish processing 50(i) 7
United Fish Industries (UK) Limited Fish processing 100 13

(c) Subsidiaries – Mainland Europe
Groupe Hubert Food distribution 100 9

(d) Subsidiaries – United States of America
Cuisine de France, Inc. Bread distribution 100 10
La Brea Holdings, Inc. Bread manufacturing  and food distribution 100 (ii) 11

(e) Associates:
Hiestand Holding AG Gourmet Bakery 32 16
John Thompson and Sons Limited Provender millers 50 4
North West Silos Limited Feed processing 50 14
Odlum Group Flour milling 50 15
West Twin Silos Limited Silo operation 50 5 

(f) Joint venture
CillRyan’s Bakery Limited Bread manufacturing and distribution 50 1
*Direct ownership

(i) SFP (Shetland Fish Products) Limited is consolidated on the basis of the Group having the power to control the financial and
operating policies of this undertaking.

(ii) The Group holds 97% of the common stock including 100% of the voting common stock of La Brea Bakery Holdings, Inc.
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Principal subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Registered offices
1. 151 Thomas Street, Dublin 8, Ireland.
2. Orchard Road, Royston, Hertfordshire SG8 5HW, England.
3. Belgard Square, Tallaght,  Dublin 24,  Ireland.
4. 35/39 York Road, Belfast BT15 3GW, Northern Ireland.
5. 7 McCaughey Road, Belfast BT3 9AG, Northern Ireland.
6. Unit 4a,  McLean Road,  Campsie Real Estate,  Londonderry, BT47 3PF, Northern Ireland.
7. Greenwell Place, Aberdeen AB12 3AY,  Scotland.
8. Unit 4, Blaris Industrial Estate,  Old Hillsborough Road,  Lisburn,  Co. Antrim, BT 27 5QB, Northern Ireland.
9. Boulevard de Beaubourg, B.P. 22 – Emerainville, 77313 Marne-La-Vallee, Cedex 2, France.
10. 203 North La Salle Street, Suite 1800,  Park Ridge, Chicago,  Illinois 60601, United States of America.
11. 2711 Centerville Road, Suite 400, Wilmington, Delaware 19808, United States of America.
12. Rubastic Road, Southhall, Middlesex UB2 5LL, England.
13. Gilbey Road, Grimsby, South Humberside DN31 2SL, England.
14. Clarendon House, 23 Clarendon Road, Belfast BT1 3BG, Northern Ireland.
15. Alexandra Road, Dublin 1, Ireland.
16. Ifangstrasse 9-11 / P.O. Box, CH-8952 Schlieren-Zurich, Switzerland.

The country of registration is also the principal location of activities in each case.

A full list of subsidiaries, associates and joint venture will be filed with the relevant Registrar of Companies.
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Directors and other information

Directors D. Lucey – Chairman
O. Killian – Chief Executive Officer
P. McEniff – Chief Financial Officer
H. Kane – Executive
D. Buckley
B. Dardis
J. B. Davy
N. Hynes 
P. Lynch 
D. Martin
W. G. Murphy
P. Wall
P. N. Wilkinson

Secretary A. Lowther

Registered office 151 Thomas Street
Dublin 8

Solicitors L. K. Shields & Partners
39/40 Upper Mount Street
Dublin 2

Mason Hayes & Curran
South Bank House
Barrow Street
Dublin 4

Syndicate bankers ABN AMRO Bank
ABN AMRO House
IFSC
Dublin 1

Bank of America
5 Canada Square
London E14 5AQ

Bank of Ireland
Lower Baggot Street
Dublin 2

Barclays Bank
47/48 St Stephen’s Green
Dublin 2

Syndicate bankers BNP Paribas
5 George’s Dock
IFSC
Dublin 1 

IIB Bank
Sandwith Street
Dublin 2

Ulster Bank Group
George’s Quay
Dublin 2

Registrars Capita Corporate Registrars Plc
Unit 5
Manor Street Business Park
Dublin 7

Stockbrokers J. & E. Davy
49 Dawson Street
Dublin 2

Auditor KPMG
Chartered Accountants
1 Stokes Place
St. Stephen’s Green
Dublin 2

Annual report 2006 for PDF  21/11/06  12:18  Page 115



116

Additional information (Listing Rule 6.8.6)

There have been no changes in the interests of the directors of the Group between 31 July 2006 and 10 October 2006.
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